



## EVIDENCE BRIEF Climate-altering approaches and the Arctic

02 August 2021

# **Summary**

This briefing summarises the latest evidence around Carbon Dioxide Removal (CDR), Solar Radiation Modification (SRM) and other climate-altering approaches and techniques relevant to the Arctic environment. It briefly describes a range of approaches currently under consideration and explores their relevance in the Arctic context. It also provides an overview of some generic governance issues and the key instruments relevant for the governance of different approaches.

The Carnegie Climate Governance Initiative (C2G) seeks to catalyse the creation of effective governance for climate-altering approaches, and in particular for SRM and CDR. C2G has no position on SRM or CDR research, nor whether any of the techniques should be tested or deployed.

This brief presents evidence relating to CDR and SRM approaches specifically as they relate to the Arctic environment. For more detail on the broader evidence relating to these approaches and their governance, please see the respective C2G evidence briefs on the governance of CDR and SRM which can be downloaded from the website at: <u>https://www.c2g2.net/publications/</u>



# **Table of Contents**

Introduction	
Background	4
SECTION I:	
ARCTIC RELEVANT CLIMATE-ALTERING TECHNIQUES	
Carbon Dioxide Removal (CDR)	6
Afforestation and reforestation	7
Artificial ocean downwelling	8
Biochar production and deposition	
Building with biomass	
Carbon sequestration in soils	11
Direct Air Carbon Dioxide Capture & Storage (DACCS)	
Enhancing ocean alkalinity	
Methane capture and processing	
Ocean carbon capture and storage (OCCS)	
Ocean fertilisation with Iron (OFI)	16
Ocean fertilisation with macro-nutrients, nitrogen and phosphorus (OFM)	
Restoring peatlands, wetlands and coastal habitats.	
Other approaches to CDR not considered suitable to Arctic use	יי, רר
Solar Radiation Modification (SRM)	
Marine cloud brightening (MCB).	
Increasing ocean surface albedo	
Stratospheric Aerosol Injection (SAI)	
Other SRM possibilities	
SECTION II:	
GOVERNANCE	
Introduction	
Customary International Law	
The United Nations Convention on Biodiversity (CBD)	
United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea (UNCLOS)	۲C
UN Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC)	
The Paris Agreement	
The Kyoto Protocol	
MARPOL	
Vienna Convention and Montreal Protocol.	
The 1977 Environmental Modification Convention (ENMOD)	
The Convention on Long-Range Trans Boundary Air Pollution (CLRTAP)	
The Arctic Council	
The Arctic Circle	
Research governance	
Publics and their role in governance	37
Other fora or processes	37
Conclusions	
References	39



# Introduction

Now more than four years after the Paris Agreement on climate change entered into force, recognition is growing that without a rapid acceleration in action, limiting global average temperature rise to 1.5–2 degrees Celsius (°C) will not be possible. Progress towards achieving the Paris Agreement goals has been slow. Rather than fall, prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, emissions have only risen, hitting a new high of 55.3 billion tonnes of carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) equivalent in 2018 (UNEP, 2019). Even if all the Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs) under the Paris Agreement were implemented, the Earth is still expected to warm by  $3.0^{\circ}$ C by the end of the century (range  $3.0-3.5^{\circ}$ C with 66% probability) (UNEP, 2020).

In this context, scientists have increasingly been exploring the additional use of large-scale interventions to limit climate impacts, including Carbon Dioxide Removal (CDR) and Solar Radiation Modification (SRM). These climate-altering approaches are sometimes defined collectively as climate engineering or geoengineering.

This briefing focuses on climate-altering approaches that may be relevant to the Arctic, an important region to consider in the context of both its role in the climate system, and its importance in geopolitics. In section–I the techniques that could potentially be deployed in the Arctic, are briefly discussed and further detail on these techniques can be found in C2G's <u>CDR</u>, <u>SRM and SAI Evidence</u> <u>Briefs</u> (C2G, 2019, 2021 and 2021). A summary of other climate-altering techniques that would not be suitable for Arctic use is also provided.

There may be techniques that could be deployed in other regions that would have impacts on the Arctic environment, but these are outside the scope of this briefing. The briefing is not a detailed assessment of the techniques, rather it provides a brief description and analysis of each.

In Section–II on governance, a high-level overview of the relevant legal instruments, including existing law and some key non-binding principles, or codes of conduct are offered.

All the techniques discussed still require significant governance dialogue and decision making before they might even be considered for deployment at scale. C2G takes no position on the appropriateness of any of the techniques described herein. Rather, we seek only to broaden the conversation about them and catalyse the creation of effective governance for such techniques.



# Background

Any discussion about the Arctic in relation to climate-altering approaches should consider the region not only as a location within which they may, or may not be deployed, but also in the context of its importance to the global climate system, to planetary and human wellbeing, and the region's geopolitical importance.

Driven by various amplifying feedback mechanisms (Pithan and Mauritsen, 2014), the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) found that the rate of climate change in the Arctic is twice as fast as the rest of the Earth's climate (IPCC, 2018) whilst a more recent assessment by the Arctic Monitoring & Assessment Programme reported that it had warmed three times faster than the global average between 1979 and 2019 (AMAP, 2021). Some of the key environmental changes in the Arctic include:

- the Greenland ice sheet mass loss has increased six-fold since the 1980s (Mouginot et al., 2019);
- glacier melt is contributing 25–30% of observed sea-level rise (AMAP, 2017), and the smallest of Arctic glaciers are on a trajectory to completely melt by the end of the century (Radić, 2014);
- seasonal Arctic sea ice melt is on a trajectory such that the Arctic Ocean in summer may be mostly ice free by 2050 (Notz and Stroeve, 2018); and,
- permafrost thaw is accelerating, raising the possibility of the surface becoming a substantial source of methane and nitrous oxide emissions (Box et al., 2019).

Because more terrestrial methane may be released to the atmosphere sooner and more rapidly than previously thought (Yumashev et al., 2019) and the decline in reflective sea ice enables an amplifying feedback promoting ever higher temperatures (Yumashev et al., 2019), in 2019 the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP) announced that a climate tipping point may have been reached in the Arctic and the Greenland ice sheet (UNEP, 2019). Such an acceleration in Arctic climate warming has the potential to affect the global climate (IPCC, 2018 and 2019).

Situating these climate considerations within the context of the Arctic's wider geopolitical position, described by the then United States (US) Secretary of State Mike Pompeo (2019) as 'being at the forefront of opportunity and abundance', suggests that future dialogue about any potential development, or deployment of climate-altering techniques in the region may be subject to important governance and geo-political debate (Corry, 2017).

Physically, the Arctic is a potentially useful location for some climate-altering techniques (NASEM, 2021). For example, the low population density and the availability of land and ocean surfaces offers considerable potential for albedo modification that uses manufactured reflective materials deployed on the surface (NASEM, 2021). Furthermore, the Arctic already stores carbon on a long-term basis. If these carbon stores were enhanced, they could provide additional storage for anthropogenic carbon over timescales that are not possible in the atmosphere (IPCC, 2014).



However, whilst there may be drivers that suggest the Arctic as an appropriate host for some climatealtering techniques, there are multiple other issues to consider. Some of the proposed techniques may perturb weather and climates elsewhere on the planet (Berdahl et al., 2014) and the placing of materials in the Arctic environment, including the atmosphere, surface and oceans raise additional environmental, social and political governance issues (Jackson et al., 2015).

Driven by better understandings of the region's capacity to drive significant changes in the global climate, and because the region is warming, possibly increasing access to natural resources, the region is increasingly being constituted as a global governance object (Corry, 2017) and it has been suggested that approaches to governance in the Arctic based on territorial sovereignty alone are breaking down (Corry, 2017). As part of this process, the Arctic climate is becoming increasingly and differently imagined, e.g., by the US as 'One Arctic', as an Inuit space, or as a subject of global climate governance (Steinberg et al., 2015), and conceived as a geography rather than a group of state territories (Koivurova et al., 2019). This evolving governance situation may have multiple implications, for example, including a weakening of how local interests are served (Corry, 2017).

Climate-altering techniques, in the context of this evolving governance landscape, may contribute to such a shift towards a globalist view of the region and provide interested actors with an object, or tool, through which to exercise control (Corry, 2017). The techniques may, through their design and discussion – and even more if deployed at scale – become tools through which future governance orders and relationships between people, states, resources and the environment are constructed among Arctic region states and others (Corry, 2017). As such, who engages in experiments, model simulations and early governance exchanges about these techniques and how they are organised and mediated may have important implications for the prospects for Arctic climate interventions and wider global governance agendas not only about the climate but more broadly.

The Arctic retains a special place in the environmental awareness of many societies (Hamilton, 2008). Processes that intentionally interfere with the Arctic may therefore be met with hostility, including from citizens living remotely from the region and who have never visited it. See for example the Greenpeace 'Save the Arctic' campaign (2013). Resistance, coupled with important governance questions, such as: who would deploy, monitor, pay for and insure against harms of any interventions; how the wider climate might respond to Arctic based interventions; how those would be responded to; and, how might trade, food production and other resource extraction be affected create a challenging governance environment for climate-altering techniques in the Arctic.

Further, it must be acknowledged that Arctic states and other countries have divergent interests in relation to climate change's effects on the Arctic (Corry, 2107). It is by no means a given that all countries will agree on the urgency, need and perhaps even on the desirability of stopping the current environmental changes in the Arctic. There are states who view the melt as an opportunity, freeing up access to valuable resources, and some who see it as a catastrophe, irreparably harming a pristine, unique natural environment, and those who view it as both (Corry, 2017). Thus, for some, interventions to protect the Arctic environment would be unwelcome whilst others may see it as an opportunity. This injects important uncertainties into the governance agenda. It cannot be assumed that climate-altering techniques, such as those discussed in this brief, can be addressed separately from the wider, on-going geopolitical struggle over the Arctic as a region and its purpose (Gorkina, 2013)



Finally, the Arctic environment creates significant physical challenges for any considering researching or deploying climate-altering techniques in the region. The Arctic has little by way of infrastructure such as deep seaports and few support facilities like rescue services. There is only very limited access to ready supplies of energy, and there are large distances between settlements with services. The Arctic is an extreme environment within which to work with low temperatures for six-months per year and four months of complete darkness per year in many parts (north of 780).

# SECTION I: ARCTIC RELEVANT CLIMATE-ALTERING TECHNIQUES

### **Carbon Dioxide Removal (CDR)**

#### Introduction

CDR is defined by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) as 'Anthropogenic activities removing  $CO_2$  from the atmosphere and durably storing it in geological, terrestrial, or ocean reservoirs, or in products. It includes existing and potential anthropogenic enhancement of biological or geochemical sinks and direct air capture and storage, but excludes natural  $CO_2$  uptake not directly caused by human activities' (p544, IPCC, 2018).

CDR is also known as carbon removal or carbon drawdown. Negative Emissions Technologies (NETS) and Greenhouse Gas Removal (GGR) are terms that encompass CDR, but which also include other greenhouse gases (GHGs) such as methane. It should be noted that there are currently no well-developed methods for removal of non-CO<sub>2</sub> GHGs. CDR, if ever implemented at large scale is expected to have climate cooling effects. In such circumstances, they are described as climate-altering techniques, climate engineering or geoengineering.

The emission pathways in the IPCC Special Report on Global Warming of  $1.5^{\circ}$ C (IPCC, 2018) all require the removal of CO<sub>2</sub> from the atmosphere using CDR, if warming is to be limited to  $1.5^{\circ}$ C. These scenarios indicate the need to remove up to 1,000 billion tonnes (Gigatonnes (Gt)) of CO<sub>2</sub> by the year 2100, demonstrating the necessity of rapid and unprecedented action. It is in this context that CDR options are increasingly being proposed (UNEP, 2020).

Several potential CDR techniques are not considered suitable for the Arctic (see table 2), with key constraints being the cold, lack of light in winter, the short growing season, the challenges of building and maintaining infrastructure in the region, and safety. Others are less constrained by these environmental factors. Those techniques that are considered more suited to the Arctic environment are summarised below with an overview provided in table 1.

It is important to note that even where CDR techniques may be suitable for use in the Arctic, it may well be more efficient, cheaper and less resource intensive to use CDR techniques in other regions. This is not to suggest CDR is not suitable in the Arctic, but to flag it may be more challenging.





Forestation is the intentional planting of new trees (afforestation), or replanting where they have been cropped, died, or been removed by other means (reforestation). This planting results in a net uptake of  $CO_2$  as the trees grow. However, once a tree or forest reaches maturity, the uptake of  $CO_2$ slows (Houghton, 2013) and when a tree's life cycle is complete it decomposes, and  $CO_2$  is returned to the atmosphere (Read, 2009). This release of  $CO_2$  may be avoided through forest management, and the biomass stored in long-lived wood products, or with them being used for bioenergy or biochar. Following harvesting, new planting and subsequent forest regrowth, or natural revegetation allows for continuing  $CO_2$  removal.

Whilst trees cannot grow in the high Arctic, forests and forestry are an important element of the peri-Arctic environment and economy, making this technique of interest to the low Arctic and sub-Arctic regions. Biophysical constraints present in the Arctic will also play important role in the capacity of afforestation in the region to remove carbon. For example, hours of daylight, temperature, soil quality, vulnerability to flood, drought, fire or disease and future effects of climate change may all effect growth and storage capacity (Popkin, 2019).

A recent modelling study of a range of European forest-management scenarios concluded that, because of the surface darkening and cloud cover changes created, any added forests would approximately eliminate their carbon-storage benefits (Luyssaert et al., 2018). In seasonally snow covered environments, such as the Arctic, afforestation may have a net surface heating effect (Arora and Montenegro, 2011) and thus it may then not be suitable. However, in the future, if warming continues and snow and ice melting takes place earlier in the season and/or less land is covered by snow and ice afforestation may become a more viable option (Arora and Montenegro, 2011).

Forestation's global carbon removal capacity is contested. Griscom et al., (2017) suggests the capacity ranges from between 3 to 18  $GtCO_2$  per year, with the variation dependent on assumptions about the land available for planting ranging from 350 to 1780 million hectares (MHa). Whilst earlier evidence which informs the IPCC estimate indicates a global capacity of 1 to 7  $GtCO_2$  per year by 2050 (IPCC, 2018). In a more conservative assessment Smith et al., (2015) estimate a maximum sequestration through forestation of 12  $GtCO_2$  per annum by the year 2100.

#### The technique and its readiness

Afforestation and reforestation are already widely practiced throughout the world.

The cost estimates for afforestation and reforestation have been assessed at between USD \$15 and \$30 per tonne of  $CO_2$  (Smith, 2015) whilst the IPCC only provide abatement costs of USD \$5 to \$50 per tonne (IPCC, 2018), demonstrating the considerable uncertainty regarding potential costs.



#### Current research activity

A better understanding of the balance of effects of planting trees between their carbon sequestration and warming effects is required. For example, shading by trees, particularly in the Arctic latitudes and in mountains or dry regions, where dark leaved conifers predominate may have a net warming effect (Lundquist et al., 2013). More research on climate models is therefore required to better understand the full effects of changes to forestry cover (Winckler, 2019).

A better understanding of how to balance competing demands for land use, such as biomass and biofuel production, cropping and grazing with forestation whilst also protecting the culture and rights of indigenous peoples in the most equitable, economically viable and socially acceptable way is required (Florin, 2020).

#### Socio-political considerations

Afforestation is broadly welcomed in many European states, whilst in other countries it remains a contested space (RS/RAE, 2018; NAS, 2015). Further, forestation may, in some circumstances, create concerns about the rights of vulnerable and indigenous people. Planting may undermine capacity for landowners to generate income in the short term, meaning they will want certainty regarding any payments that may be forthcoming to bridge the period between planting and harvest.

#### Governance

The monitoring of rates of both afforestation and deforestation needs to be improved and a precise global accounting system agreed upon (IPCC, 2018). Undertaking this work in Arctic regions, many of which are inaccessible, may be challenging.



Theoretical engineering interventions would transport cold surface waters saturated in  $CO_2$  into the deep ocean (Zhou and Flynn, 2015, RS/RAE, 2018). At the surface, these 'down welled' waters would be replaced laterally by warmer surface waters. These would subsequently cool, taking up  $CO_2$  because of enhanced solubility.

#### The technique and its readiness

At the time of writing, no artificial downwelling ideas have been tested. Nor are any technologies available capable of creating oceanic downwelling at very larges scales.

#### Current research activity

The technique is not currently being researched in any detail.



#### Socio-political considerations

Socio-political considerations have not been explored in the literature.

#### Governance

How downwelling might be governed is uncertain; however, it would likely be under the scope of the London Protocol and United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea (UNCLOS).



**Biochar production and deposition** 

The principle

Biochar, if stored in soil for long periods can provide not only a carbon store, but can also improve soil quality and crop yields (Lehmann, 2015), as well as water quality and nutrient levels (Smith, 2016).

Biochar is formed, in pyrolysis, when biomass is heated in a closed container, with little or no available air. In combination with sustainable biomass production, it can be carbon negative.

It is suggested that a tonne of biochar can remove between 2.1 to 4.8 tCO<sub>2</sub> (Lehmann, 2015, Hammond, 2011). Looking at the full literature range, the IPCC identify that the global potential of biochar in 2050 lies between 0.3 and 35 GtCO<sub>2</sub> yr<sup>-1</sup> (IPCC, 2018). Woolf et al., (2010) estimate that the costs of biochar production ranges from USD \$18 to \$166 per tCO<sub>2</sub> produced.

Whilst the boreal forest may provide a significant biomass source, its use in the Arctic may be less effective than elsewhere. Critically, the application of biochar can lower surface albedo. During snow free seasons this may create some warming, which could partially counteract any climate mitigation benefits (Meyer et al., 2012). Further, the warming presence of dark biochar on the surface may delay the onset of seasonally permanent snow and ice cover, cover that has important albedo effects (Meyer et al., 2012).

#### The technique and its readiness

Biochar is a well understood and established method although it is not yet widely applied globally.

#### Current research activities

There is a wide range of on-going biochar research activity. Areas of current research include exploring uncertainties associated with decomposition rates of the various types of biochar, depending upon the pyrolysis feedstock and temperature (Anderson, 2020).

Within the Arctic context as elsewhere, more evidence is required to better understand the albedo effects (Yang, 2018) and which, if any feedstock might be most suitable for Arctic growing conditions.



#### Socio-political considerations

There are not expected to be major social concerns with the deployment and scale up of biochar, although there may be some social reticence and concerns about any effects on forests or food supply (Smith, 2010).

#### Governance

The monitoring, reporting and verification (MRV) of the take up and use of biochar can be difficult, both at the state and international level. Improved accounting will, though, be important in the future for carbon accounting purposes and it is possible that biochar will, in the longer term, become subject to international governance mechanisms such as the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD) and United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) (Vivid economics, 2019).



### **Building with biomass**

#### The principle

This technique would harvest plants and trees for use in construction. The harvested materials could be used in a wide range of purposes within the building process. The approach has the potential to sequester carbon for between several decades and several hundred years and McLaren (2012) has suggested between 0.5 and 1 GtCO<sub>2</sub> per annum could be sequestered.

#### The technique and its readiness

Building with timber and other natural plant-based materials has been practiced for millennia and is a popular technique in the Arctic region. However, novel thermal and chemical treatments are increasingly available for use on fast growing soft woods to enhance their strength and duration (RA/ RAE, 2018) meaning fewer slow growing trees, characteristic of the Arctic region may be required for future use in construction.

#### Current research activities

Building research is undertaken globally, within state funded and independent building research institutions, corporations, and universities.

#### Socio-political considerations

Whilst there may be some caution about the use of wood in construction, in relation to fire hazard and durability, its use is common-place in many states, including; the US, Scandinavia and the United Kingdom (UK), and it is suggested that there is unlikely to be any significant public reticence to overcome when seeking to expand the use of the materials in construction (RS/RAE, 2018).



#### Governance

If timber and plant material for building is imported or exported, an international agreement about who can claim the carbon credit arising from the activity will be required, along with a mechanism to monitor the flow of materials, and the carbon storage (RS/RAE, 2018).

National and supra national building regulations may constrain the use of materials in some circumstances (RA/RAE, 2018).



**Carbon sequestration in soils** 

#### The principle

There are several ways that carbon can be sequestrated in soil (RA/RAE, 2018). These included:

- improved crop varieties and changes in their rotation and cropping;
- the use of novel biotechnologies;
- managing nutrients and optimising fertiliser use though careful timing and precise applications;
- minimising tillage and maximising the retention of organic material;
- improving grasses, especially by promoting and planting those with deep roots, and grass density; and,
- improving grazing management, paying attention to feed sourcing/production and stock density.

Whilst carbon sequestration in soils may be deployed within the Arctic, there are limitations on its value. Firstly, access to appropriate soils is limited, and, further, much of the ground is uncultivated and some is permanently inaccessible due to ice or snow cover.

#### The Technique and its readiness

There are no significant technical barriers to taking measures to improve soil carbon sequestration, and the practices are understood and in some cases already in practice in farming (RS/RAE, 2018). The global capacity to sequester carbon is estimated to be from 1 to 11 GtCO<sub>2</sub> per annum (Lal, 2011, Lal, 2013, Minasny, 2017).

In the longer term the capacity to store additional carbon year on year will decline as soils become saturated (IPCC, 2014, 2018), after which it becomes impossible to sequester additional carbon through these types of intervention.

There are no Arctic specific removals capacity data nor cost assessments for this technique. However, Smith (2016) suggests taking forward the required practices has the potential to create profit of up to USD \$3 per tonne of CO<sub>2</sub> through improved productivity. In other circumstances, dependent on soil



and environmental conditions, Smith suggests deployment may cost up to \$12 per tonne.

#### Current research activities

Rapid and reliable methods are needed for the measurement of soil carbon and gas fluxes (RS/RAE, 2018).

#### Socio-political considerations

There is a lack of knowledge about the benefits of the approach, which will need to be overcome with education and training, if deployment is to be scaled up (Minasny, 2017).

#### Governance

Given the broadly positive effects on crop productivity and biodiversity, and the apparent lack of potential harms, governance of this method will likely be constrained to practical issues (Smith, 2012).



### **Direct Air Carbon Dioxide Capture & Storage (DACCS)**

#### The principle

DACCS uses chemical engineering to separate  $CO_2$  and other GHGs (then often referred to as Direct Air Capture and Storage (DACS)) from ambient air (the atmosphere around us) and store or use the sequestered gases in ways that will not contribute to global warming.

The removed gas is stored, for example, in geologic storage. Alternatively, it may be transformed into useable products such as fuels, however, any emissions resulting from the use of those fuels would then also need to be captured if the process is to result in net CO<sub>2</sub> removal.

#### The technique and its readiness

To extract  $CO_2$ , two approaches are used: adsorption and absorption. The first, adsorption uses solids to capture  $CO_2$  whilst the second, absorption uses liquids.

Currently DACCS technologies are situated between the pilot plant stage and small scale or prototype demonstration in the field. Viebahan et al., (2019), suggests that DACCS is unlikely to be commercially available on a large-scale before 2030.

It should be noted that DACCS is expected to be more efficient in dry air (Wang et al., 2013) such as that experienced in the Arctic. However, a demand for water as part of the process suggests locating plants in arid deserts such as the Arctic may not be suitable.

Before the technologies can be scaled up, some outstanding issues, including energy requirements, the longevity of CO<sub>2</sub> storage, and the natural resource requirements, require resolution (NAS, 2015,



RS/RAE, 2018). It is suggested that, in the long term, DACCS has a global sequestration potential of between 0.5 and 5 GtCO<sub>2</sub> per annum by 2050 (Fuss et al., 2018)

The availability of geothermal energy in the Arctic could be a potential source of power for DACCS (RA/ RAE, 2918), suggesting, when combined with the dry air in which DACCS is more efficient (Wang et al., 2013) the Arctic maybe a suitable location for DACCS. Whilst there is underutilised hydroelectricity potential in Greenland, a demand for water as part of the process suggests locating plants in some parts of the Arctic may not be suitable if the availability of water from snow and ice requires additional energy to extract and melt the required water.

Estimates of financial costs of DACCS range from USD 20 to 1,000 per tonne of CO<sub>2</sub> captured (Sanz-Pérez et al., 2016 and (IPCC, 2018)).

#### Current research activities

Currently, the largest programmatic funding for GGR including DACCS is funded by UK Research and Innovation, which is committing USD \$44 million to the topic of CDR over five-years, commencing 2021 (UKRI, 2019) whilst the X Prize Foundation offers \$100m to solutions that can remove one ton of CO<sub>2</sub> per day and scale to gigaton levels.

Looking to the future research agenda, a number of studies have provided an overview of research gaps, or innovation 'needs' (Goeppert et al., 2012; Koytsoumpa et al., 2018; Sanz-Pérez et al., 2016; Sandalow et al., 2018; NAS, 2019). A reading of these suggest the following are key areas of priority:

- achieving greater energy, heat and water efficiency;
- developing a better understanding of the sustainability impacts of DACCS;
- resolving remaining carbon cycle uncertainties;
- improving the production of synthetic renewable fuels using captured carbon;
- gaining a better understanding of how to deliver environmentally neutral secure, permanent carbon storage;
- the economics and policy of a DACCS compatible carbon market;
- the social acceptability of DACCS; and,
- global carbon accounting and governance.

#### Socio-political considerations

Blackstock and Low (2018) suggest that the social acceptability of DACCS cannot be assumed and evidence regarding the acceptability of DACCS is thin.

DACCS plants are likely to have a small physical footprint, compared to medium sized industrial facilities, and they would not be expected to create any threats regarding land availability, including to ecosystems services or food security (RS/RAE, 2018).



#### Governance

DACCS instillations will be situated within nation state boundaries and are not expected to cause direct environmental, economic, social and political transboundary harm requiring international governance.

Transparent MRV of achieved sequestration to monitor progress, and to provide accurate accounting of states' contributions and any carbon sequestration credits that may accrue (Zakkour, 2014). It is unclear how the international community might agree, set and stabilise, atmospheric carbon dioxide concentrations over the long-term.



### **Enhancing ocean alkalinity**

#### The principle

Adding additional alkalinity to the surface of the ocean will result in an increased uptake of  $CO_2$  by the ocean from the atmosphere. Enhancing alkalinity would help reduce the effects of ocean acidification on the marine ecosystem (GESAMP, 2019).

Deployment in the Arctic Ocean would be a likely 'hot spot' of unintended changes creating ocean biogeochemistry perturbations with unknown consequences (Gonzalez, 2017), suggesting the Arctic may not be the most appropriate location in which to attempt an enhancement of ocean alkalinity.

#### The technique and its readiness

No field trials have been undertaken, however, enhancing alkalinity would not require any novel or new technology (RS/RAE, 2018). These techniques can also be conducted on land (see Enhanced Terrestrial Weathering below), avoiding the costs of transport to and across the oceans.

The impacts of introducing particles from these materials into the oceanic environment are unknown suggesting further examination prior to implementation would be required (GESAMP, 2019).

The IPCC do not estimate a theoretical removals capacity for chemically enchancing alkalinity (IPCC, 2018) although theoretical studies have suggested that enhancing ocean alkalinity could remove as much as 3,500 GtCO<sub>2</sub> by 2100 (Gonzalez and Lilyina, 2016). Cost estimates range from USD \$50 to \$400 per tonne (GESAMP, 2019).

#### Current research activity

Currently, there is very limited research underway on the technique (Bach et al., 2019).

#### Socio-political considerations

Research by Corner et al. (2014) suggests publics may not be supportive of ocean-based interventions



of this nature.

#### Governance

The technique could fall under Annex 4 of the London Convention and London Protocol and UNCLOS (Hubert, 2020). Other interested parties may include intergovernmental or civil society organisations (CSOs) and commercial interests related to chemical engineering.



### Methane capture and processing

The principle

Ocean warming may lead to large-scale releases of methane with consequent large effects on the global climate, in particular in the Arctic region (Shakhova et al., 2010, Whiteman et al., 2013). In addition, the release of methane from thawing permafrost is also expected to accelerate global warming (Yumashev et al., 2019). Hence, there may be a need for methane capture.

#### The technique and its readiness

We find very limited information about methane capture. Lockley (2012) and Stolaroff (2012) have suggested covering kilometre-sized areas with plastic film and then either 'flaring off' captured methane or recovering it to storage. An alternative proposition to reduce the size of the methane bubbles forming at the seabed by sieving them through porous materials at the point of origin, causing them to dissolve into the water column before reaching the surface (Lockley, 2012). It has not been possible to estimate the potential scale of methane capture.

#### Current research activity

None, other than theorising about the method.

Socio-political considerations

Unknown.

#### Governance

It is uncertain how methane capture might be governed at this stage of its consideration.





This technique would remove dissolved inorganic carbon from the oceans to be taken to long term storage sites, increasing the capacity of the oceans to absorb  $CO_2$  from the atmosphere driven by a natural return to equilibrium.

#### The technique and its readiness

The principles underlying the technique are well understood and are used at small scale in laboratories during sea water analysis (Willauer et al., 2017). This technique would require scaling up, work on which is only at very early stages (GESAMP, 2019). Estimates of the theoretical maximum efficiency of this technique are uncertain given the limited understanding of how scaling up would work.

#### Current research activity

Technical and economic modelling is underway (Eisaman et al., 2018) exploring cost and infrastructure challenges of OCCS. However, many other critical research issues remain (GESAMP, 2019).

#### Socio-political considerations

It is unclear what incentives would be required to encourage up-take were a technology proven. Which institutions would develop this and why is unknown? It is also unknown where the captured carbon would be stored and at what opportunity cost, nor whether the technique would be socially acceptable.

#### Governance

If conducted in inshore waters, OCCS would be subject to nation state regulation, customary law and wider governance dialogue. In international waters, the governance frameworks are uncertain.



### **Ocean fertilisation with Iron (OFI)**

Photosynthesis by plankton in the ocean removes around 40 GtCO<sub>2</sub> per year from the ocean surface and transports it downward to the deep ocean (RS/RAE, 2018). Iron ocean fertilisation seeks to enhance this process by introducing additional micronutrients to drive greater plankton growth.

#### The technique and its readiness



Distributing iron into the oceans is technically feasible and the industrial infrastructure required is well understood (GESAMP, 2019). The technique may be more pertinent to the Arctic than many other waters and modelling suggests that the subarctic Northern Pacific would be a particularly productive location within which to deploy the technique (Bopp et al., 2013).

Estimates for the capacity for ocean iron fertilisation to remove and store CO<sub>2</sub> are extremely uncertain. For example, the IPCC estimates a range of 15.2 Kilotonnes (kt) for small interventions to 44Gt, (IPCC, 2018) whilst the Royal Society and the Royal Academy of Engineering, adopts an estimate of 3.7 GtCO<sub>2</sub> per annum (RS/RAE, 2018). Cost estimates for this technique also vary. The IPCC, for example, estimate a cost range of between USD \$2 and \$457 per tonne of CO<sub>2</sub> removed (IPCC, 2018).

Some potential side-effects include population increases of toxic species of single-celled algae diatoms (Silver et al., 2010 and Trick et al., 2010). If iron fertilisation is carried out over large areas, there may be reductions as well as increases in productivity, affecting fisheries and potentially nutrient robbing from downstream regions, potentially with geopolitical and economic implications (GESAMP, 2019).

#### Current research activity

Ocean iron fertilisation is an area of active research interest and research assessment of carbon transfer in large-scale experiments is required (Williamson, 2016).

#### Socio-political considerations

The Haida Gwaii community off Prince Rupert Columbia in Canada became subject to global news in 2012 after the Haida Salmon Restoration Corporation had released 120 tonnes of iron sulphate into an ocean. It was flagged to the media (Lukacs, 2012). Contiguous with the Haida experiment the governing body of the London Protocol tasked its Ocean Fertilisation Working Group to develop options for providing a control and regulatory mechanism for ocean fertilisation following which the London Protocol was amended (LC&P, 2015) (see 'governance' below).

Research suggests that the public, at least in the UK, are broadly unaware of the technique, (Corner et al., 2014)

#### Governance

The technique falls under Annex 4 of the London Protocol (IMO 2013). Other interested parties could include civil society and commercial interests.



# Ocean fertilisation with macro-nutrients, nitrogen and phosphorus (OFM)

The principle

The underlying principle of this technique is the same as for iron fertilisation (above), it simply uses different substances.



#### The technique and its readiness

Nitrogen and/or phosphorus would be added to nutrient-impoverished waters. It has been suggested that nitrogen fertilisation, when additional costs including manufacture, transport and distribution by vessels on the ocean are included, is potentially a more efficient means of sequestration than iron fertilisation (Harrison 2017 and Matear and Elliot 2004).

Harrison (2017) suggests that the technique has a theoretical capacity to offset up to 15% of annual global CO<sub>2</sub> emissions (as at 2017).

The Arctic Ocean's waters are not nutrient-impoverished meaning that this technique may not be best suited to the region and its deployment would likely be more efficient in the tropics and sub-tropical waters (GESAMP, 2019).

#### Current research activity

Research is still required to understand the viability of this approach.

#### Socio-political considerations

These are broadly the same as for iron fertilisation. However, phosphorus stocks are in decline, process are volatile and there are concerns regarding future capacity to fertilise crops. The geopolitics of phosphorus are also important, with large mines only in Morocco, Russia, China and the US (GESAMP, 2019).

#### Governance

The technique falls under Annex 4 of the London Protocol (Hubert, 2020). Other interested parties would include intergovernmental or CSOs, and commercial interests, especially those associated with food production and mining/minerals.

# **CO**<sub>2</sub> Restoring peatlands, wetlands and coastal habitats.

#### The technique and its readiness

The restoration of these environments requires little in the way of new technology (Zedler, 2005). It centres on rewetting or re-establishing environments, normally through practices to block excessive draining (SNH, 2019). Coupled with this, measures to protect the ecosystems against further exploitation and degradation are required (Bain, 2011).

Peatlands play an important role in Arctic and peri-Arctic regions, acting as a 'blanket' insulating permafrost and preventing it from thawing (Kopansky, 2020).

The release of methane and nitrous oxide from wetlands may release between 20% to 25% of global



emissions (Whiting, 2001). Whilst reviews of methane mitigation technologies indicate that this may be a challenging task (Stolaroff, 2012, Lockley, 2012), it is known that such releases can be reduced significantly by planting of mosses and other plant coverage on non-coastal wetlands.

Current estimates of the maximum long-term carbon sequestration that can be achieved through improving wetlands, indicate a potential of between 0.4 and 18 tons of  $CO_2$  per hectare per annum, scaling to a global potential of approximately 1 GtCO<sub>2</sub> per annum by 2030 (Bain, 2011).

Coastal ecosystem restoration could theoretically remove 0.2  $GtCO_2$  per annum (Griscom et al., 2017). However, this would be challenging, because of the semi-permanent and on-going nature of most coastal land-use change (Li et al., 2018). Carbon sequestration costs in freshwater wetlands have been estimated to be in the range of USD \$10 to \$100 per tCO<sub>2</sub> (Kayranli, 2010) and estimates for saltwater environment restoration range from USD \$2,508 to \$383,672 per hectare (Bayraktarov et al., 2016)

#### Current research activities

If wetland restoration is to be fully understood and any potential for CDR fully realised, more research is required.

#### Socio-political considerations

The key barriers to large-scale wetland restoration are largely financial (RS/RAE, 2018). Financial incentive mechanisms may then, be required, and, maintained over the long-term (Kayranli, 2009).

Challenges also remain regarding the MRV of achieved carbon sequestration, cost-effective monitoring of fluxes, and the effects, positive or negative, of land-use change (Kayranli, 2009, RS/RAE, 2018).

Restoring wetlands can have a range of, non-climate related benefits some of which may contribute to wider global sustainability goals (Zedler, 2005).

#### Governance

Interested parties in wetlands restoration would include:

- Ramsar Convention on Wetlands of International Importance especially as Waterfowl Habitat (UNESCO, 1971);
- Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD);
- United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC);
- food and farming interests, such as the UN Food and Agriculture Organisation (FAO);
- coastal shipping interests; and,
- CSOs and landowners.



### Table 1 Overview of Arctic relevant CDR Techniques

	TECHNIQUE	READINESS	ACTIVE RESEARCH AREA	GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK	SOCIAL ACCEPTABILITY
Afforestation and Reforestation	Planting of forests and restoration of ecosystems that result in long- term storage of carbon.	Already widely practiced. Could be deployed at scale with little further development.	Yes. Exploring gas fluxes from trees, land use change effects and albedo changes.	The United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC), Kyoto Protocol, Paris Agreement, the Food & Agricultural Organisation (FAO). Questions remain regarding social justice (i.e., land use issues). A requirement for better monitoring, reporting and verification (MRV) of achieved sequestration.	Competing demands for land use need governance. A lack of financial incentives to encourage afforestation.
Artificial Downwelling	Pumping oceanic waters to deep waters to enhance carbon uptake	Not currently practical, even in principle in engineering terms, to deliver cooling.	Very limited if any activity.	Unresolved.	Unknown.
Biochar Production and Deposition	Biomass burning under low-oxygen conditions (pyrolysis) creates "biochar", which is then added to the soil to enhance soil carbon.	A well- established technology with an evolving market. Only likely to be of limited value in the Arctic.	Yes, explorations of decomposition rates and the relationship with feedstock and temperature.	State and customary law, UNFCCC and FAO. Better MRV is required. A transboundary trade in biochar may require international agreement regarding carbon credit allocation.	No major social concerns.
CO2 Building with Biomass	Using carbon embedded in timber in construction.	Widely practiced.	Yes. Improving materials strength & combustion protection. Reusing materials during decommissioning.	Imported timber may, in the future, require international agreement re carbon credit allocation. Potential governance issues around land-use change.	No major social concerns. Some barriers in construction industry related to uptake.
Corbon Sequestration in Soils	Land management changes that increase soil's carbon concentration.	No significant barriers. Some have adopted the practice. Limited knowledge of the techniques in the agriculture community.	Yes. A better understanding of gas fluxes from enhanced soil is required.	The UNFCCC and Paris Agreement, the FAO and the 4p100 initiative. A requirement for better MRV of achieved sequestration.	No major social concerns.

# C2G

	TECHNIQUE	READINESS	ACTIVE RESEARCH AREA	GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK	SOCIAL ACCEPTABILITY
Direct Air Capture with Carbon Storage (DACCS)	Chemical processes that separate CO <sub>2</sub> from air for subsequent storage.	No technical constraints to deployment aside from scale up and energy supply/use.	Yes. Demonstrator projects improving energy, heat and water efficiency, whole systems modelling to understand scale up.	With amendments may be relevant to UNFCCC, Kyoto Protocol and Paris Agreement.	It is uncertain how publics would respond to this technique.
Enhancing Oceanic Alkalinity	Additional alkalinity in ocean surfaces will increase the uptake of $CO_2$ .	A major challenge remains to reduce the large carbon/energy footprint of manufacturing processes.	Very limited.	Would be subject to United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea (UNCLOS) and the London Protocol in the future, if named in annex 4. The Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD).	Limited research on broadly similar techniques suggest it is unlikely to be welcomed.
Enhanced Terrestrial Weathering	Minerals added to the land surface which react with atmosphere and permanently remove carbon.	No technical constraints to deployment aside from scale up and infrastructure development.	Yes. Limited research underway.	Subject to nation state law. With amendments may be relevant to UNFCCC, Kyoto Protocol and Paris Agreement. With run-off, potentially the London Protocol.	Only limited evidence regarding how publics would respond to this technique.
Methane Capture and Processing	Limited information about capture or storage techniques.	No available techniques.	None.	Unknown.	Unknown.
Ocean Carbon Capture and Storage (OCSS)	The chemical removal of dissolved inorganic carbon which is taken to storage sites.	Principles well understood. Chemical engineering research is required before a viable technology becomes available for testing.	Mainly technical and economic modelling	If conducted in Exclusive Economic Zone (EEZ) waters, OCSS would be subject to nation state terms. On the high seas, the storage of CO <sub>2</sub> beneath the seabed would be covered by the London Protocol.	There is no evidence to indicate the nature and scale of any responses.
Ocean Fertilisation with Iron	Placing iron in ocean surface water encourages plankton growth, which takes up CO <sub>2</sub> during growth.	Technically feasible and the industrial infrastructure required is well understood.	Yes. Environmental impacts and capacity to uptake $CO_2$ .	Research addressed under the London Protocol and UNCLOS. The CBD.	Limited research suggests it is not welcomed.



	TECHNIQUE	READINESS	ACTIVE RESEARCH AREA	GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK	SOCIAL ACCEPTABILITY
Ocean Fertilisation with Macro- Nutrients, Nitrogen and Phosphorus	Placing nutrients in ocean surface water encourages plankton growth, which takes up CO <sub>2</sub> during growth.	Modelling studies only to date.	Very limited theoretical and modelling research.	Research addressed under the London Protocol. UNCLOS and the CBD.	May not be welcomed – see iron fertilisation.
Restoring or Creating Peatlands, Wetlands and Coastal Habitats.	Rewetting, reclaiming or creating new wetlands to enhance soil carbon levels.	Requires little new technology.	Yes. Reducing methane release and its capture.	The UNFCCC, Kyoto Protocol, Paris Agreement and FAO. Land use trade- offs. Better MRV.	A key barrier may be the lack of financial incentives to encourage land-use change.

### Other approaches to CDR not considered suitable to Arctic use.

The Arctic environment creates conditions that would limit the capability of some CDR approaches to remove carbon efficiently or effectively, those techniques are summarised in Table 2. For a more detailed assessment of these techniques, see the <u>C2G Evidence Brief: Carbon Dioxide Removal and its</u> <u>Governance.</u>

#### Table 2. CDR techniques considered unsuitable for Arctic deployment

TECHNIQUE	BRIEF DESCRIPTION	INAPPROPRIATENESS FOR ARCTIC
Crop Residue Oceanic Carbon Sequestration	Ballasted bales of crop residue would be dumped into the deep ocean or off the deltas of large rivers.	Residues dumped in less than 1,000 metres (m) can have significant impacts on the ecosystem (GESAMP, 2019). The Arctic oceans mean depth is only 1039m (Ostenso, 2019).
Macroalgal Cultivation for Sequestration	The large-scale farming at sea of macroalgae to capture carbon through photosynthesis (N'Yeurt, 2012). The biomass would subsequently be harvested either for sequestration or bio- fuel production (Sondak et al., 2017).	Low light conditions under ice, and during the Arctic winter more widely constrain the growth of macro algae such that large scale farming would not be sufficiently productive (Hancke et al., 2018). Although there is evidence that kelp growth rates in ice free waters are accelerating with warming (Filbee-Dexter et al., 2019).



TECHNIQUE	BRIEF DESCRIPTION	INAPPROPRIATENESS FOR ARCTIC
Artificial Upwelling in the Oceans	Artificial upwelling would bring deep, nutrient-rich waters up toward the surface stimulating phytoplankton growth and the absorption of carbon.	Across much of the mid and low latitude oceans, nutrients are depleted in the surface waters, limiting biological production (Moore et al., 2013); not the case in higher latitudes, meaning only minor potential gains.
Bioenergy with Carbon Capture	Biomass is grown as feedstock and burnt to generate energy. Gasses released from combustion are captured at source and sequestered permanently (e.g., in geological formations) effectively taking the emissions out of the carbon cycle (Daggash et al., 2018).	BECCS requires a large and secure, regular supply of biomass, grown locally to minimise emissions from transport. Rapid growing, cropping and replacement is required. This is not possible at the scale required in the Arctic.
and Storage (BECCS)		
C	Naturally occurring chemical reactions that absorb CO2 are enhanced by the spreading of ground materials (e.g., Olivine) on the substrate which react with water.	The technique requires that the land surface be exposed to the air (not covered in snow or ice) and liquid water to promote the chemical reaction (for more information see (RS/RAE, 2018). Dust from the ground up materials would blow onto ice and snow reducing its albedo and warming the ice.
Enhanced Terrestrial Weathering		

### **Solar Radiation Modification (SRM)**

#### Introduction

The underlying objective of SRM techniques is to increase the reflectivity, ('albedo'), of the Earth's surface or atmosphere. An increase in the amount of sunlight, known as solar radiation, returning to space would alter the Earth's radiation balance, working to shade and thus cool the surface, countering some of the greenhouse warming. Further detail can be found in C2G Evidence Briefs covering, Governing SRM and SAI and its Governance (see C2G, 2019b and C2G, 2021).

Estimates suggest that if SRM were deployed, it would need to reflect roughly 2% of sunlight back to space, to counter this amount of warming (Shepherd, 2009). However, SRM is not a substitute for emission reductions to net zero, and then net negative, as it does not address the underlying cause of global warming - increased atmospheric GHG concentrations (Robock, 2018). Given the complexity of the climate system, unintended consequences of deployment of SRM may occur if deployed at climate-altering scales (Russell et al., 2012, Robock, 2018).

Some SRM interventions may have an immediate direct cooling effect on local temperatures (Watts, 1997). Other SRM interventions may be capable of delivering planetary scale cooling within a time frame of a few years (Keith, 2013).



SRM presents complex technical, socio-political and governance challenges. This gives rise to governance questions including, how to measure potential effects on the global climate to questions such as 'who would decide to deploy SRM', 'how much cooling might be appropriate' and how would liability for (perceived) damages be dealt with and how might 'losers' be compensated? SRM also gives rise to questions of moral hazard, i.e., discussions about its potential use, or any future deployment may undermine individual, collective or political incentives and calculations for delivering mitigation (Lin, 2012). It has also been suggested that SRM could potentially give rise to security governance issues between countries (Chalecki and Ferrari, 2018), a topic further discussed in the C2G Evidence Brief: Governing Solar Radiation Modification (C2G, 2020).

Each of the main SRM techniques are presented in the following section and summarised in Table 3 at the end of the section.



Marine cloud brightening (MCB)

The principle

Clouds over the oceans would be engineered to be brighter, increasing the amount of sunlight reflected out into space, hence achieving cooling.

#### The technique and its readiness

In relatively aerosol-free parts of the atmosphere, such as over the Arctic and oceans, increasing the number of cloud-condensation nuclei (particles around which droplets of water coalesce to form clouds) would raise cloud (and planetary) albedo significantly and may also increase the cloud longevity (Albrecht, 1989). An MCB intervention would seek to increase the number of cloud-condensation nuclei by spraying fine particles into clouds. The most likely candidate base material is sea water.

The scale of effect of this technique could be very large (Latham et al., 2009). However, the potential to scale up MCB to the scales necessary for planetary cooling is unclear (Brent, 2020).

MCB could also be deployed locally, securing regional benefits and such interventions are currently being researched in Australia, exploring the use of MCB in Great Barrier Reef protection (BRF, 2018).

Modelling suggests MCB could be deployed within the Arctic region delivering a rapid cooling effect (Parkes, 2012), slowing ice melt and cooling the Earth more widely in due course (Nalam et al., 2017). However, such a deployment may also drive atmospheric heat from regions to the south of the Arctic into the Arctic region, counteracting some of the direct effects of the MCB deployment. Distribution mechanisms might be technically uncomplicated. It has, for example, been suggested that solar powered ships or remotely operated aircraft could routinely deliver the required particles at precisely the locations needed (Wood et al., 2018).



It is uncertain how the climate will respond to the large-scale radiative forcing MCB may have the capacity to deliver. Climate models suggest MCB could be very efficient in reducing global warming (Kravitz et al., 2014). However, risks could conceivably include changes to weather systems and important local climate phenomena such as monsoon rains and ecosystem functioning (Park et al., 2019, Keith et al., 2016, Mercado et al., 2009).

If an MCB deployment that had cooled the planet were terminated over a short time, a significant and rapid temperature 'bounce back' may result, whilst the climate re-stabilised (Kosgui, 2011). This rapid temperature increase, known as a 'termination shock', could be damaging (Robock, 2018) and has the potential for large-scale environmental, economic and social impacts (Matthews and Caldeira, 2007). However, is has been argued that there are no obvious scenarios under which rapid termination might be allowed to occur under a well-governed system (Parker and Irvine, 2018).

#### Current research activity

A key set of research agenda related to Arctic SRM is to develop a better understanding of how deployment in the Arctic might affect sea ice formation and the wider global climate. These are explored in more detail in the discussion of Stratospheric Aerosol Injection (SAI) SRM below.

In April 2020, the world's first ever outdoor SRM experiment was undertaken to test a delivery mechanism to spray nano-sized sea-salt particles into the air above the Great Barrier Reef (GBR).

#### Socio-political considerations

Public perceptions and likely responses to MCB are uncertain (Taylor, 2019). Research in the UK suggests that a perceived controllability of MCB may reduce citizens' concerns about governance of the technique (Bellamy et al., 2017).

#### Governance

Large scale MCB requires governance, not only because a decision to deploy would affect the Earth's climate, but also because it may affect other systems such as the oceans, weather, agriculture, regional hydrologic cycles, and biological productivity (Shepherd, 2009), affecting states and regions, both positively and negatively, and in different ways. Monitoring and verifying the effects of MCB deployment would also have governance connotations which are yet to be resolved.



### Increasing ocean surface albedo

If the albedo of the ocean surface, or (floating) sea ice were enhanced the Earth's radiation balance would be changed (Shepherd, 2009). Limited competition for space on the oceans, compared to on land may mean that locating an intervention over the Arctic Ocean may be less politically challenging than on land (Moore, 2021).

#### The technique and its readiness

Several approaches to increasing ocean surface albedo and 'ice management' are discussed in the literature. Manufactured reflective floating silica spheres could be placed on sea ice to slow melting (Field et al., 2018) and micro bubbles might be deployed using a bubble injection technology (Seitz, 2011), a simulation of which suggests that a 0.05% increase in ocean albedo could potentially cool global average surface temperatures by 2.7°C (Seitz, 2011). Alternatively, stable reflective rafts of foam could be spread on the surface (Aziz et al., 2014) and bright calcifying phytoplankton blooms have been shown to increase the reflectivity of the ocean surface (Holligan et al., 1993) and could be created using the iron fertilisation techniques discussed above.

An important characteristic of techniques to increase ocean surface albedo is the likelihood of them being able to deliver local or regional cooling, such as in the Arctic – reducing heat during local temperature spikes.

Currently, none of the proposed approaches described are available for scale deployment and they all give rise to important questions about the environmental impacts of introducing alien materials into the environment and changing large surfaces.

#### Current research activity

Work on developing spheres, bubbles, sea ice and foams are underway in small scale studies, including small scale field trials. For example, the Arctic Ice Project, a non-profit organisation based in California is testing and developing silicon dioxide microspheres for Arctic deployment (ICE911, 2019) and small-scale field trials in Canada and the US are underway (Field et al., 2018).

It is estimated that 25,000 kilometres square (km2) of the Arctic, the equivalent of 0.7% of late summer ice coverage, at its lowest extent to date, could be covered by the spheres at a materials-only cost of USD \$300 million (Field et al., 2018). Future research questions for the Arctic Ice Project include how the spheres would respond and behave in the open ocean including how quickly they would disperse or sink. However, modelling of scale-up deployment of the Arctic Ice Project's method suggest that sea surface temperate reductions of -3°C may be possible in the Barents and Kara seas (Field et al., 2018).

Remaining research challenges include improving the longevity of bubbles and foam and enhancing their resilience to disturbance and breakdown by wave, rain, tide and shipping (GESAMP, 2019). Environmental impact research should also be considered in parallel with technique research to better understand potential effects, risks and harms.

#### Socio-political considerations

There is no market to support deployment of techniques to increase ocean surface albedo. The extent to which deployments would be socially acceptable are uncertain. There is limited evidence whether community consent for deployment of microspheres such as those under development by the Arctic Ice Project is or will be problematic. However, one report (Jay, 2019) suggests deployment may not



easily receive community consent.

#### Governance

The techniques discussed will likely be subject to regulation by the London Protocol as a type of marine SRM, as well as the UNCLOS if they were to locate beyond the EEZ. Other interested parties would include CSOs, Intergovernmental Organisations (IGOs), and commercial business interests.



SAI SRM seeks to increase the amount of reflective aerosol particles in the lower stratosphere increasing the reflection of sunlight back into space and cooling the planet (Keith, 2018). For more detail see <u>C2G Evidence Brief on SAI Governance</u> (C2G, 2021).

SAI would deploy aerosols in the lower stratosphere (Keith, 2013). It is expected that SAI could be capable of delivering planetary scale cooling within a year (Keith, 2013).

Evidence of the effects of stratospheric aerosols on the climate is available in the natural environment from volcanic eruptions. For example, in July 1991, the Mount Pinatubo eruption cooled the global climate by an average of 0.5 °C over the following two years (Dutton and Christy, 1993) before the aerosols rained out.

SAI would not address the cause of warming and it could carry, undermine individual, collective or political incentives for delivering mitigation (Lin, 2012).

#### The technique and its readiness

Three key factors drive interest in SAI; the potential rapidity with which it may take effect (Keith 2013), the high potential cooling efficiency and potential low direct cost of deployment (Keith, 2013). Because the particles would fall out of the stratosphere over time (estimates suggest between one and three years), they would need to be continually replaced to maintain the level of cooling (Keith 2013). Smith and Wagner (2018) suggest that developing a new aircraft, suitable for SAI work would neither be technologically difficult nor prohibitively expensive - cost estimates range from USD \$1 to \$3.4 billion (Bingaman et al., 2020, Smith and Wagner, 2018).

The theoretical relative ease of implementation, combined with the potential radiative efficiency of aerosols, suggests the direct costs of SAI might be low. A Royal Society review suggested SAI would be in the order of 1,000 times less expensive than other climate-altering techniques, although MacKerron (2014) has drawn attention to the importance of indirect economic costs meaning the hidden costs of policy and governance development, could be higher than the direct costs (Florin et al., 2020).

Whilst the costs of SAI may be low in comparison to other climate-altering techniques (Keith, 2013),



because deployment scenarios assume SAI would be used in combination with CDR and emissions reductions, SAI costs would be an additional cost, on top of the costs of the chosen levels of CDR and emissions reductions (Keith, 2013, IPCC, 2014).

The choice of materials to use in the formation of the aerosols remains to be resolved and may pose important questions. For example, were sulphate, one candidate particle, used it may drive ozone loss Tilmes and Mills, 2014). Some potential SAI particles may, on the other hand, enhance ozone.

It is not yet clear in detail how the climate might respond to the large-scale forcing SAI. Modelling suggest that SAI could be very efficient in reducing global warming (Irvine and Keith, 2020). Further, it is suggested that SAI could reduce globally aggregated risks of climate change (Irvine et al., 2019). However, SAI may increase climate risks for some regions, including the Arctic (Irvine et al., 2019). Such risks could conceivably include changes to some weather systems including precipitation (Keith et al., 2016, Mercado et al., 2009).

As with MCB, if SAI had ever been deployed and was then terminated over a short time period, a significant and rapid temperature 'bounce back' may result, whilst the climate re-stabilised (Kosgui, 2011) increasing temperatures rapidly (Robock, 2018). Such a termination shock has the potential for large-scale environmental, economic and social effects (Matthews and Caldeira, 2007). Modelling of the Arctic's response to the cessation of aerosol injection after a 50-year programme of deployment, has suggested that the Arctic climate system would rebound quickly, and any sea ice or snow retention that had occurred during the period of deployment would be lost within a decade. However, Parker and Irvine (2018) have argued that, with appropriate governance there are no obvious scenarios under which rapid termination might occur.

There is mixed evidence regarding how SAI deployment might affect polar regional climates. Some modelling scenarios suggest that SAI would have a protective effect on the Greenland ice sheet (Irvine et al., 2009). Others have suggested it may cause warming at the poles and in the tropics, whilst cooling the climate overall and that sea level rise may continue (although at a slower rate) (Applegate and Keller, 2015). Other research has found that attribution of climate side effects of Arctic SAI in real time was very uncertain, even speculative and requires more research (Jackson et al., 2015).

Choices about the spatial patterning of injections could also be made to balance different climate objectives, whether focused more on precipitation, Arctic Sea ice, or some regional responses (NASEM, 2021). Such choices remain subject to research and the outcomes are currently uncertain. It has been suggested that a SAI deployment that included a spatially patterned injection that increased forcing in the polar region might be most effective for limited SRM cooling scenarios (Macmartin et al., 2017). Modelling also suggests such profiles have the potential to increase the polar amplification (Collins, 2013). However, secondary effects may arise, including increasing heat travel from regions to the south into the Arctic which could counteract some effects of the SAI deployment (Tilmes et al., 2014). Modelling also suggests Arctic deployment of SAI could cause the inter-tropical conversion zone to move southward, negatively effecting climates in that region, including the monsoon (Nalam et al., 2017), unless it was balanced by comparable SAI deployment in the Southern Hemisphere (Nalam et al., 2018).



In addition, over Europe and Eurasia, the stratospheric heating caused by SAI may produce a stronger polar vortex, which lowers Arctic Sea level air pressure and increases the wind over the North Atlantic, leading to a shift in storm tracks that result in widespread warming with wetting over northern Europe and drying over southern Europe (NASEM, 2021, Simpson et al., 2019).

However, whilst modelling has shown deployment in the region would likely cool the Arctic in the first instance, changes it may cause in Arctic cloud cover and southern heat influx could counteract the direct effects of the SAI deployment (Tilmes et al., 2014). In addition, modelling suggests Arctic.

SAI deployment within the Arctic region on a seasonal basis, deploying aerosols during the spring and summer only may lead to reduced sea ice loss in those seasons, whilst year-round deployment may cause ice thickening as well as reduced seasonal sea ice loss (Kravitz et al., 2010). Also related to the Arctic (and peri-Arctic regions) a modelling study suggests a SAI deployment to reduce radiative forcing under the Representative Concentration Pathway (RCP) 4.5 scenario (IPCC, 2018) could lead to a reduction of permafrost carbon release, avoiding an approximated USD \$8.4 trillion of economic losses by 2070 (Chen et al., 2020).

#### Current research activity

Currently research is predominantly modelling, and laboratory based (Berdahl et al., 2014, Irvine et al., 2009) or seeking a better understanding of governance issues (Horton et al., 2018; Macnaghten and Owen, 2011; Stavins and Stowe, 2019; Florin, 2020) and the social appraisal of the technology (Bellamy et al., 2012; Stilgoe, 2015).

The first SAI related physical sciences experiment ever to be conducted outside of the laboratory, The Stratospheric Controlled Perturbation Experiment (SCoPEx), was scheduled to take place in Arctic Sweden during 2021 (SCoPEx, 2019) to measure changes in the air perturbed by the balloon, in which between 100 grams (g) and 2 kilograms (kg) of calcium carbonate has been released, including changes in chemistry, aerosol density and how light is scattered (SCoPEx, 2019). The project led by the Keutsch Group at Harvard University sought to 'learn more about the efficiency of SAI and risks of solar geoengineering' but was called off in response to opposition from indigenous people and environmental groups (Reuters, 2021).

In a study of vulnerable populations, including in the North American Arctic, many respondents emphasized the importance of research being inclusive of people in developing countries, and they raised concerns that research might overlook local needs, worsen global inequalities (NASEM, 2021, Carr and Preston, 2018).

In 2019 a US Congress Bill approved research into the effects and risks of SAI (and MCB). Importantly this alluded to outdoor experimentation. In January 2020, the US National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) was allocated USD \$3.7 million for SRM modelling research. In July 2020, the financial year 2021 budget allocated a further year of funding at the same level, focussing on modelling work. In 2021, the US National Academy of Sciences called for a new USD \$100–200 million solar engineering programme (NASEM, 2021) and SilverLining is co-ordinating a USD \$3 million SRM research programme (SilverLining, 2020).



#### Socio-political considerations

There have only been a limited number of studies of public responses to SAI (Sugiyama et al., 2020 and Pidgeon et al., 2012).

Few non-specialists have participated in debates about the future of SAI. For example, indigenous peoples have figured widely in literature about climate-altering techniques as a key affected constituency, e.g., in the Arctic. However, some have noted that they have not yet been visible in debates about the future of SAI (Buck, 2018). More generally, there have been few attempts to explore justice concerns that vulnerable populations might harbour and how those concerns could inform ethics and policy discussions (Carr and Preston, 2017).

#### Governance

As with MCB, the need for governance of SAI arises from its capacity to intentionally effect the Earth's climate and social systems, structures and deeply held values about questions of justice, faith and rights (Shepherd, 2009).

It is unlikely that a SAI engineered climate could ever be constructed such that the resulting climate was perceived as optimal by all states, immediately creating a complex governance challenge (Ricke, 2013). For example, some countries might favour less ice in the Arctic, opening up access to resources and other benefits, whilst others may favour an increase in ice coverage. However, were it possible to reach global consensus about a 'new' temperature, through some as yet unidentified process or mechanisms, Ricke et al., (2013) suggest it may, then, be straightforward for states to agree how much SAI should be deployed and how to monitor it.

A deployment of SAI could potentially give rise to security governance issues, sowing mistrust or tensions.

C2G (2019b) provides a more detailed exploration of the governance, geopolitical and security issues associated with SAI and other SRM techniques in its <u>Evidence Brief: Governing Solar Radiation</u> <u>Modification</u>.



#### Table 3 – A summary of Arctic relevant SRM techniques

	TECHNIQUE	READINESS	ACTIVE RESEARCH AREA	GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK	SOCIAL ACCEPTABILITY
MARINE CLOUD BRIGHTENING (MCB)	Seeding and whitening clouds above ocean surfaces, likely using sea salt spray, to redirect some solar radiation back toward space. There is a potential for rapid regional cooling delivery directly on deployment. Estimated cost per year of per unit of radiative forcing Watt per square metre (W/m2) is \$200 million <sup>1</sup>	Technology theoretical, based on natural analogues and computer models. Some for small scale outdoor experiments in 2020.	Both theoretical research and field work trials underway.	Within an exclusive economic zone (EEZ), governance would be for the host country. In international waters, customary international law applies. Regional variation in impacts (e.g., temperature and hydrological). Social acceptability remains uncertain.	Limited evidence that region specific target MCB may be socially acceptable. Indications that the expected controllability of MCB makes the technique more acceptable than SAI.
STRATOSPHERIC AEROSOL INJECTION (SAI)	Reflective aerosols would be deployed in the lower stratosphere. Modelling suggests planetary cooling within a year is possible. Cost per year of per unit of radiative forcing are estimated to be between USD \$17.5 and \$100 billion (Smith and Wagner, 2018, Robock, 2020) <sup>1</sup>	Theoretical understandings of the technique are informed by studies of volcanic eruptions' climate effects. Mechanisms for delivery not yet developed. However, assessments suggest SAI would be feasible and less expensive than other techniques with similar potential.	Theoretical studies only to date. Field experiments are planned but pending governance deliberation. There is no co-ordinated research programme.	<ul> <li>Which governance instruments may apply is unresolved.</li> <li>Relevant instruments are likely to include state and customary law, the CBD the UNFCCC and amended instruments such as air pollution instruments, the Vienna Convention and others.</li> <li>Evidence suggests deployment, or plans to deploy might strain international relations, institutions and cooperation. It may be that potential security issues could arise.</li> <li>Potential for moral hazard or mitigation deterrence.</li> <li>Constraints in climate science mean it may be challenging to attribute some effects of SAI, particularly at the regional scale, directly to a deployment – this may be resolved with research.</li> </ul>	Evidence suggests significant social concerns about SAI. However, limited evidence suggests those concerns are less prevalent in the global south
ENHANCING SURFACE ALBEDO	Making surfaces brighter, to redirect some solar radiation back toward space.	Small scale trials using silica spheres, bubbles and foams are underway. Potential technical limitations to scale, scope and longevity of materials in situ.	Limited	Regulatory and legal measures include customary international law, the London Protocol, CBD and UNCLOS s, but these may not be comprehensive and would apply to ocean-based activities only. Regional variation in impacts (e.g., temperature and hydrological) are expected and will require governance. Environmental protection and food safety regulations.	Uncertain

1 A doubling of  $CO_2$  from pre-industrial would create a radiative forcing of 3.7 W/m<sup>2</sup> (Salter 2008). -1W/m<sup>2</sup> would be the equivalent of reducing the warming effect of a doubling of  $CO_2$  concentrations by 27%.

### **Other SRM possibilities**

In addition to those described above several other approaches to SRM have been discussed in the literature. Given these have not been developed in much detail, only a brief review of each follows.

Cirrus cloud thinning (CCT) would seek to reduce the net warming effect of cirrus clouds by modifying their structure. Cirrus clouds' capacity to absorb and emit longwave radiation back down to Earth outweighs the cooling effect they provide through the scattering of light (Lohmann and Blaz, 2017). CCT would seek to change this balance by reducing the longevity of the clouds and by changing their optical properties by 'seeding' the atmosphere. Currently, modelling research is at an early stage and researching this approach in the atmosphere is very challenging (Lohmann and Gasparini, 2017). However, Lohmann and Blaz suggest that, if effective CCT were possible, it would be most effective in the higher latitudes such as in the Arctic.

Described as the 'White Roof Method' (Zhang et al., 2015), structures could be built using light coloured materials and existing structures, such as buildings and roadways, resurfaced to increase their albedo. However, the net temperature effect of this measure is likely to be trivial, or one of warming, as locally affected surfaces would constrain moisture transport, and hence diminish cloud formation, meaning that more solar radiation would reach the Earth's surface (Jacobsen and Hoeve, 2012). This approach would not be suitable for the Arctic because of the small number of available artificial surfaces and the transport related emissions that would arise from the geographically distributed nature of urban environments.

It is estimated the direct cost of painting sufficient structures and surfaces white to reduce temperatures would be USD \$300 billion per year, making the White Roof Method one of the least effective and most expensive of all possible climate-altering techniques (Shepherd, 2009).

It could be possible to enhance plant albedo through selective breeding and by genetically modifying plants (Ridgwell et al., 2009). The direct costs have not been estimated in any detail, and the effects of the required changes on disease resistance, growth rates, market price of food and drought tolerance are uncertain (Ridgwell et al., 2009). In the context of a world struggling to grow and distribute sufficient food (UNFAO, 2009), the challenges of diverting effort toward crops with increased albedo could be too great to make this a practicable option (Shepherd, 2009).

A range of Space based techniques have been proposed. However, they contain such great uncertainties regarding technique, direct and economic costs, risks and effectiveness as well as lengthy timescales that their implementation, even in the next hundred years, is probably unrealistic (Shepherd, 2009). For example, one option would require the deployment of ten trillion refracting disks of 60 centimetres (cm) in diameter, fabricated on Earth and launched into space to sit at the Lagrangian Point (where the gravitational attractions of the Sun and Earth balance), 1.5 million miles from the Earth's surface (Angel, 2006). Another would deploy a 5.5 Km2 reflector in near Earth orbit, to achieve a 2% reduction in solar radiation (Angel, 2006, USNAS, 1992).



# SECTION II: GOVERNANCE

The purpose of this section is to briefly review existing legal instruments and to highlight the most important governance issues and provisions but does not analyse them in depth. More information is available in the C2G Evidence Briefs on Carbon Dioxide Removal and its Governance and Governing Solar Radiation Modification and Hubert, (2020), Reynolds (2018), Scott (2013 and 2015) and Redgwell (2011) have produced in-depth descriptions of international law and governance relevant to climate-altering techniques, for those who wish to explore further.

C2G uses the IPCC's definition of governance in relation to climate-altering techniques (IPCC 2018). Governance is not, then, only about instruments and rules. It also includes processes in which citizens engage during the social appraisal of technologies as they evolve from ideas on to their various trajectories (Macnaghten and Owen, 2011, Stilgoe, 2015). Section 2 of the C2G Evidence Briefs on CDR and its Governance and Governing SRM provide more detailed information about a range of generic governance issues and about the international frameworks or instruments are relevant to climatealtering techniques mentioned below including:

- reporting monitoring and verification of CDR;
- 'moral hazard' or 'mitigation deterrence';
- risk-risk trade-offs;
- incentives;
- customary international law; Convention on Biodiversity (CBD) (CBD 2008);
- London Convention 1972 and the 1996 London Protocol (IMO 2016);
- UN Convention on the Law of the Sea (UNCLOS) (UN 2009);
- UN Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) (UN 1992);
  - Paris Agreement 2015 (UNFCCC 2015);
  - Kyoto Protocol;
- International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution from Ships, 1973 as modified by the Protocol of 1978 (MARPOL);
- Vienna Convention on the Protection of the Ozone Layer (UNEP, 1985) and the 1987 Montréal Protocol (UNEP, 1987);
- Environmental Modification Convention (ENMOD) (UN, 1977); and,
- Convention on Long-Range Trans Boundary Air Pollution (CLRTAB, 1979).

In addition, this section also discusses the potential role of the Arctic Circle, other fora and research governance.

### **Customary International Law**

The general norms of customary international law as it relates to international environmental law would apply to climate-altering techniques in the Arctic including the duty to prevent transboundary harm, duties of international cooperation to undertake transboundary impact assessments and to consult and notify, and the precautionary principle.



### The United Nations Convention on Biodiversity (CBD)

The 1992 CBD is one of the few conventions to have discussed approaches to climate-altering directly. Whilst the CBD position on the techniques appears strong and sends a governance signal it is not binding, and country participation is not universal (it excludes the US), and it only relates to the conservation of biodiversity and the sustainable use of biological resources. The limitations of the CBD highlight that, individual extant protocols and conventions as currently constructed, could only form an incomplete basis for global regulation (Hubert, 2020, Redgwell, 2011).

Convention on the Prevention of Marine Pollution by Dumping of Wastes and Other Matter (the London Convention) 1972 and the 1996 London Protocol

The purpose of the Protocol is to protect and preserve the marine environment from all sources of pollution, and, in particular, from the dumping of wastes and other at sea. The Protocol directly addresses climate-altering techniques, and it is evolving in the context of the debate about 'marine geoengineering'.

Importantly, parties to the Protocol are developing the first legally binding framework for the governance of marine 'geoengineering' (Hubert, 2020). This seeks not only to protect the marine environment, but also seeks to be adaptable in response to technological and research progress.

### United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea (UNCLOS)

UNCLOS is an evolving Convention, and an intergovernmental process is in progress that is expected to lead to an international legally binding instrument under the Convention on the conservation and sustainable use of marine biodiversity of areas beyond national jurisdiction (Hubert, 2020).

In 2017, the General Assembly convened an Intergovernmental Conference to consider the recommendations of a Preparatory Committee for a proposed international legally binding instrument under UNCLOS regarding the conservation and sustainable use of biologically diverse marine environments in areas beyond national jurisdiction (UN, 2020). As this process evolves, it may develop importance for the future governance of marine CDR.

### **UN Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC)**

Adopted in 1992 the UNFCCC provides an overarching framework to intergovernmental efforts to tackle climate change, its objective is the *'stabilisation of greenhouse gas concentrations in the atmosphere at a level that would prevent dangerous anthropogenic interference with the climate system'* (UN 1992) and it is likely that it will play a significant role in the global governance of CDR. However, what that role might be, and how it might relate to SRM is unclear at this time.

### The Paris Agreement

The Agreement requires Parties to communicate a nationally determined contribution (NDC) every five years, setting out planned domestic mitigation efforts. Each successive NDC is required to



demonstrate a progression and represent highest possible ambition.

Craik and Burns (2016) have identified four ways in which it is expected to influence the future direction of CDR, as detailed below.

- CDR may arise directly out of the Agreement's objectives, building on the inclusion of 'removals' that have been present in the UNFCCC since 1992. (GESAMP 2019).
- CDR techniques fall within the scope of Article 4, which includes CO<sub>2</sub> removals as a contribution to the mitigation commitments.
- The inclusion of CDR techniques in NDCs will raise legal questions about technological readiness and equity implications.

### The Kyoto Protocol

The Protocol would not explicitly encompass several of the Arctic appropriate CDR techniques discussed above, including DACCS and oceanic fertilisation or enhanced weathering and the provisions were not designed for the scale of removals required for the Paris Agreement's long-term temperature goal.

# The International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution from Ships, 1973 as modified by the Protocol of 1978 (MARPOL)

Reviews of international governance mechanisms pertinent to climate-altering techniques have generally not discussed the Convention, although Talberg et al. (2017) does mention MARPOL in relation to ocean fertilisation.

# The 1985 Vienna Convention on the Protection of the Ozone Layer (UNEP, 1985) and the 1987 Montréal Protocol (UNEP, 1987)

Given that the injection of aerosols and, in particular, sulphates may deplete stratospheric ozone, the Convention and Protocol may both be applicable to SAI. However, the scope of their applicability to SAI is currently unclear.

### The 1977 Environmental Modification Convention (ENMOD) (UN, 1977)

ENMOD is not expected to be applicable to climate-altering techniques, aside, potentially, from SAI given they are generally considered not to be usable as a weapon (Rayner, 2017).

# The Convention on Long-Range Trans Boundary Air Pollution (CLRTAP, 1979)

This Convention is aimed at protecting against specific pollutants, this creates a paradox in that the techniques described in this brief may not be polluting under the terms of the Convention, and, may or may not be considered to be a pollutant even if covered by the Convention in the context of their ameliorating effects on anthropogenic GHGs, in themselves considered as pollutants, although not listed in the Convention.

### **The Arctic Council**

Established by the Ottawa Declaration in 1996, the Arctic Council is a high-level intergovernmental forum that aims to promote cooperation, coordination and interaction among Arctic States. It takes an interest in sustainable development and environmental protection. The Council is comprised of eight Arctic States – Canada, Denmark, Finland, Iceland, Norway, the Russian Federation, Sweden and the US. Six Permanent Participants, which have full consultation rights within the Council's decision making and negotiations, represent organisations of Arctic Indigenous peoples. In addition, observer status is open to non-Arctic states, global and regional inter-governmental and inter-parliamentary organisations and other non-governmental organisations. Currently, 38 states have been approved as Observers to the Council.

Whilst the Council has no legal powers, it can operate through the exercise of influence and 'softlaw'. Providing a location where it is possible to explore contested agenda and construct consensus, consent or concord around governance issues. For example, the Council has agreed non-legally binding mechanisms that establish a shared vision for action in the form of an Agreement on Enhancing International Arctic Scientific Cooperation and an Arctic Council Framework for Action on Enhanced Black Carbon and Methane Emission Reductions.

Climate change has played an important role in the work of the Council, and they have produced important environmental evidence in the form of reports on snow, water, ice and permafrost in the Arctic (SWIPA, 2017 and 2019) and regional reports on adaptation in the changing Arctic (AACA, 2018).

In summary, the Arctic Council is an important location for international dialogue and cooperation on issues related to climate change in the Arctic and may have the potential to provide leadership in the currently fragmented emerging climate techniques governance landscape.

### **The Arctic Circle**

The Arctic Circle is the largest network of international dialogue and cooperation on the future of the Arctic. Participants include governments, organisations, corporations, universities, think tanks, environmental associations, indigenous communities, concerned citizens, and others interested in the development of the Arctic and its consequences for the future of the globe (AC, 2021) making it potentially a useful location within which to explore climate-altering techniques and consider their potential research, development, deployment and governance.

### **Research governance**

New evidence from research may help inform decisions about which, if any climate-altering techniques should be developed or deployed in the Arctic, when and by how much.

Whilst uncertainty is unlikely to ever be resolved (Stirling, 2008), further research may help reduce some of it, easing some of the governance challenges described (Mace, 2018). Addressing this research need is a governance challenge, for example, it is unclear how knowledge gaps will be identified, research agenda set, and funding will be secured and provided to appropriate researchers,



particular in the context of research beyond national boundaries within global commons such as the Arctic.

Where the research/application governance boundary lies, is unresolved and it has been questioned whether there should be any delineation between the two, or whether the evolution of techniques through to testing at scale should be treated as a continuum for governance purposes (SRMGI, 2011 and Parker, 2014).

Reflecting these complex research governance challenges, several non-binding codes of conduct have been developed, such as the Oxford Principles (Rayner et al., 2013), the Asilomar Principles for Research into Climate Engineering Techniques (Asilomar, 2010), the Code of Conduct for Responsible Geoengineering Research (Hubert, 2017) and the Academic Working Group on Climate Engineering Governance (AWG, 2020).

# Publics and their role in governance

Given that the techniques described in this brief are accompanied by questions about risks, benefits and uncertainties and are politically and economically complex, and because they may all cause some environmental damage with differential effects on communities, as well as positive gains, it is suggested (Buck, 2019) that citizens' perspectives on how these techniques move forward should be drawn into the processes of governance deliberation at the earliest stage in a mode of co-production.

## **Other fora or processes**

In addition to those discussed above, other United Nations (UN) bodies that may be involved, in due course, in the governance of climate-altering techniques include: the UN General Assembly, the UN Security Council, the UN Development Programme (UNDP), the International Law Commission (ILC), the High-level Political Forum on Sustainable Development (HLPF), the UN Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organisation (UNESCO), the Food and Agricultural Organisation (FAO) and The World Meteorological Organization (WMO). For a review of how these bodies may engage in the future see Hubert (2020). Other IGOs that address economic, social, peace and security areas may also play a role in the evolving governance and, with their ability to make rules and exercise power within their member countries they have become essential actors in the international community of actors engaged in the governance of climate-altering techniques.

Other actors who may participate in governance processes in due course include nation states, regional bodies such as the European Union, research groups, CSOs independent non-governmental organisations and commercial interests and publics.

### Conclusions

If the global warming is to be limited sufficiently to achieve the Paris Agreement goals, the IPCC scenarios (IPCC, 2018) clearly imply that CDR techniques will have to be adopted as part of the response, and SRM may also be necessary to avoid overshoot. The Arctic region plays a key role in the global climate and is undergoing rapid warming and change. It has been considered by some interested and affected parties to be an appropriate location in which to develop and deploy novel climate-altering techniques in response to these changes.

This briefing has explored the technical readiness, current research, applicable governance frameworks, and other socio-political considerations of the range of options that may be suitable for consideration in the Arctic region. Further, an overview of key instruments relevant for the governance of the techniques is offered. It is clear from this analysis that further research, especially in terms of potential removals capabilities and costs, and debate about the techniques, and how they might be best governed will be important before any final decisions about their deployment and long-term management can be taken.

Moving forward, we encourage open and informed conversation about the construction of effective and inclusive governance of these techniques, which should include consultation with a broad range of stakeholders with a view to helping deliver a safe, socially acceptable and environmentally appropriate future.



# References

- AC. 2021. The Arctic Circle, About Web page https://arctic-council.org/en/about/
- ALBRECHT, B., A. 1989 Aerosols, cloud physics and fractional cloudiness. Science 245 1227-1230 Available at: <u>https://science.sciencemag.org/content/245/4923/1227</u>
- AMAP. 2017. Snow, Water, Ice and Permafrost in the Arctic (SWIPA) 2017. Arctic Monitoring and Assessment Programme (AMAP), Oslo, Norway. xiv + 269 pp. Available at: <u>https://www.amap.no/documents/doc/snow-water-ice-and-permafrost-in-the-arctic-swipa-2017/1610</u>
- AMAP. 2021. Arctic Climate Change Update 2021: Key Trends and Impacts. Summary for Policymakers. Arctic Monitoring and Assessment Programme (AMAP), Tromsø, Norway. 16 pp Available at <u>https://www.amap.no/documents/doc/arctic-climate-change-update-2021-keytrends-and-impacts.-summary-for-policy-makers/3508</u>
- ANDERSON, P. 2020. Climate Intervention with Biochar: A White Paper about Biochar and Energy (BC&E) for Carbon Dioxide Removal (CDR) and Emission Reduction (ER). Woodgas Pyrolytics, Inc. Available at: <u>https://woodgas.energy/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/Climate-Intervention-With-Biochar.pdf</u>
- ANGEL, R. 2006 Feasibility of cooling the Earth with a cloud of small spacecraft near the inner Lagrange point (L1) Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 103 46 17184-17189 10.1073/pnas.0608163103 Available at: <u>http://www.pnas.org/content/103/46/17184.abstract</u>
- APPLEGATE, P. J. K., KLAUS 2015 How effective is albedo modification (solar radiation management geoengineering) in preventing sea-level rise from the Greenland Ice Sheet? Environmental Research Letters 10 8 084018 10.1088/1748-9326/10/8/084018 Available at: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/10/8/084018</u>
- ARORA, V. K. M., ALVARO. 2011. Small temperature benefits provided by realistic afforestation efforts Nature Geoscience 4 514 10.1038/ngeo1182: Available at: <u>https://www.nature.com/articles/ ngeo1182#supplementary-information https://doi.org/10.1038/ngeo1182</u>
- ASILOMAR. 2010. The Asilomar conference report. Principles for Research into Climate Engineering Techniques November 2010 Washington USA. 40. Available at: <u>http://www.climateresponsefund.</u> <u>org/images/Conference/finalfinalreport.pdf</u>
- AWG. 2020. Academic Working Group on International Governance of Climate Engineering Available at: <u>http://ceassessment.org/academic-working-group/ - :~:text=The%20Forum%20for%20</u> <u>Climate%20Engineering,deployment%2C%20with%20a%20focus%20on</u>
- AZIZ, A. H., HAILES, C. H., WARD, M. J., EVANS, G. R. J. 2014 Long-term stabilization of reflective foams in sea water RSC Adv. 4 10.1039/C4RA08714C Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1039/C4RA08714C</u>
- BACH, L., RICKABY, S., GORE, S., RENFORTH, P. 2019. CO<sub>2</sub> Removal With Enhanced Weathering and Ocean Alkalinity Enhancement: Potential Risks and Co-benefits for Marine Pelagic Ecosystems. Frontiers in Climate, 1. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fclim.2019.00007</u>
- BAIN, C. G., BONN, A., STONEMAN, R., CHAPMAN, S., COUPAR, A., EVANS, M., GEAREY, B., HOWAT, M., JOOSTEN, H., KEENLEYSIDE, C., LABADZ, J., LINDSAY, R., LITTLEWOOD, N., LUNT, P., MILLER, C. J., MOXEY, A., ORR, H., REED, M., SMITH, P., SWALES, V., THOMPSON, D. B. A., THOMPSON, P. S., VAN DE NOORT, R., WILSON, J. D. & WORRALL, F. 2011. IUCN Commission of Inquiry on Peatlands. The Peatland Programme. Edinburgh, UK: The International Union for the Conservation of Nature Available at: <u>https://repository.uel.ac.uk/download/ ef97e4b6cc318de731500e7c8c62292f1bd017412670e8fe10e89a2aea2a6714/2498467/IUCN%20 UK%20Commission%20of%20Inquiry%20on%20Peatlands%20Full%20Report%20spv%20web.pdf.
  </u>

- BAYRAKTAROV, E., SAUNDERS, M., ABDULLAH, S., MILLS, M., BEHER, J., HUGH, P., POSSINGHAM, P., MUMBY, P., LOVELOCK, C. 2016. The cost and feasibility of marine coastal restoration. Ecol. Appl., 26(4), 1055–1074, doi:10.1890/15-1077. Available at: <u>https://esajournals.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/</u> <u>doi/full/10.1890/15-1077</u>
- BELLAMY, R., LEZAU, J., PALMER, J. 2017. Public perceptions of geoengineering research governance: An experimental deliberative approach Global Environmental Change Volume 45, July 2017, Pages 194-202 <u>https://ora.ox.ac.uk/objects/uuid:d0805ee4-cffd-4de5-a46d-568676f21cf4</u>
- BERDAHL, M., ALAN, R., DUOYING, JI., MOORE, JOHN C. J., JONES, A., KRAVITZ, B., WATANABE, S. 2014. Arctic cryosphere response in the Geoengineering Model Intercomparison Project G3 and G4 scenarios Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres 119 3 1308-1321 10.1002/2013jd020627 Available at: <u>https://agupubs.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/2013JD020627</u>
- BINGAMAN, D. C., RICE, C. V., SMITH, W. & VOGEL, P. 2020. A Stratospheric Aerosol Injection Lofter Aircraft Concept: Brimstone Angel. AIAA Scitech 2020 Forum. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.2514/6.2020-0618</u>
- BLACKSTOCK, J., LOW, S. 2018. Geoengineering our Climate?: Ethics, Politics, and Governance, Routledge Available at: <u>https://books.google.co.uk/</u> <u>books?id=MHh0DwAAQBAJ&dq=DAC+social+acceptability&source=gbs\_navlinks\_s</u>
- BOPP, L., RESPLANDY, L., ORR, J. C., DONEY, S. C., DUNNE, J. P., GEHLEN, M., VICHI, M. 2013. Multiple stressors of ocean ecosystems in the 21st century: Projections with CMIP5 models. Biogeosciences, 10(10), 6225–6245. Available at: <u>https://bg.copernicus.org/articles/10/6225/2013/</u>
- BOX, E. J., COLGAN, T. W., CHRISTENSEN, R. T., SCHMIDT, M. N., LUND, M., PARMENTIER, W. F-J., BROWN, R., BHATT, S. U., EUSKIRCHEN, S. E., ROMANOVSKY, E. V., WALSH, E. J., OVERLAND, E. J., WANG, M., CORELL, W. R., MEIER, N. W.; WOUTERS, BERT., MERNILD, S., MÅRD, J., PAWLAK, J., OLSEN, S. M. 2019. Key indicators of Arctic climate change: 1971–2017 Environmental Research Letters 14 4 045010 10.1088/1748-9326/aafc1b Available at: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/</u> <u>aafc1b</u>
- BRF. 2018. Barrier Reef Foundation. Media release: Reef 'sun shield' trials show promise to prevent coral bleaching. Available at: <u>https://www.barrierreef.org/latest/news/reef-sun-shield-trials-show-promise-to-prevent-coral-bleaching</u>.
- BUCK, H. J. 2018. Perspectives on solar geoengineering from Finnish Lapland: Local insights on the global imaginary of Arctic geoengineering. Geoforum, 91, 78-86. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoforum.2018.02.020</u>
- BUCK, H. 2019. After Geoengineering Climate Tragedy, Repair, and Restoration, Penguin Random House. Available at: <u>https://www.penguinrandomhouse.com/books/610396/after-geoengineering-by-holly-jean-buck/</u>
- C2G. 2019. Solar Radiation Modification [Online]. Carnigie Climate Governance Initiative briefings and educational recourses for SRM governance. Available at: <u>https://c2g2.wpengine.com/solar-radiation-modification/</u>
- C2G. 2021. Carnigie Climate Governance Initiative briefings and educational recourses for SRM governance. Available at: <u>https://c2g2.wpengine.com/solar-radiation-modification/</u>
- C2G. 2021a. Evidence brief: Stratospheric Aerosol Injection and its Governance. Carnigie Climate Governance Initiative Available at: https://www.c2g2.net/publications/
- CORNER, A. PARKHILL, K., PIDGEON, N. VAUGHAN, N. 2013. Deliberating stratospheric aerosols for climate geoengineering and the SPICE project. Global Environmental Change, 23, 938. Available at: <u>https://www.nature.com/articles/nclimate1807</u>

CORRY, O. 2017. Globalising the Arctic Climate: Geoengineering and the Emerging Global Polity.



In: KEIL, K. K., SEBASTIAN (ed.) Governing Arctic Change: Global Perspectives. London: Palgrave Macmillan UK Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1057/978-1-137-50884-3\_4</u>.

- CRAIK, A. AND BURNS, W. 2016. Climate Engineering Under the Paris Agreement a Legal and Policy Primer (November 15, 2016). Centre for International Governance Innovation (November 2016). Available at: <u>https://ssrn.com/abstract=2872528</u>
- DAGGASH, H., FAJARDY, M., GROSS, R. & HEPTONSTALL, P. 2018. Bioenergy with carbon capture and storage, and direct air capture: Examining the evidence on deployment potential and costs. UKERC Technology and Policy Assessment Imperial College Centre for Energy Policy and Technology Available at: <a href="https://d2e1qxpsswcpgz.cloudfront.net/uploads/2020/05/UKERC-TPA-Negative-Emissions-V3-Final.pdf">https://d2e1qxpsswcpgz.cloudfront.net/uploads/2020/05/UKERC-TPA-Negative-Emissions-V3-Final.pdf</a>
- DUTTON, E.G., AND CHRISTY, J.R. 1992. Solar radiative forcing at selected locations and evidence for global lower tropospheric cooling following the eruptions of El Chichón and Pinatubo: Geophysical Research Letters, v. 19, p. 2313-2316 Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1029/92GL02495</u>
- EISAMAN, M. D., RIVEST, J. L. B., KARNITZ, S. D., DE LANNOY, C.-F., JOSE, A., DEVAUL, R. W., & HANNUN, K. 2018. Indirect ocean capture of atmospheric CO 2: Part II. Understanding the cost of negative emissions. International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control, (February), 0–1. Available at: <u>https:// www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S175058361730436X?via%3Dihub</u>
- FIELD, L., ALEXANDER, S., DECCA, R., KATURI, K., BHATTACHARYYA, S.; IVANOVA, D., MLAKER, VALIMIR. 2018. Development of a method for Arctic ice restoration using high-albedo reflective materials for localized surface treatments Earth and Space Science Open Archive 10.1002/essoar.10500214.1 Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/essoar.10500214.1</u>
- FILBEE-DEXTER, K., THOMAS, W., FREDRIKSEN, STEIN., NORDERHAUG, M. K., PEDERSEN, F. M. 2019 Arctic kelp forests: Diversity, resilience and future Global and Planetary Change 172 1-14 Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloplacha.2018.09.005</u>
- FLORIN, M.-V. (ED.), ROUSE, P., HUBERT, A-H., HONEGGER, M., REYNOLDS, J. 2020. International governance issues on climate engineering. Information for policymakers. Lausanne: EPFL International Risk Governance Center (IRGC). Available at: <u>https://infoscience.epfl.ch/</u><u>record/277726?ln=en</u>]
- FUSS, S., LAMB, W. F., CALLAGHAN, M. W., HILAIRE, J., CREUTZIG, F., AMANN, T., BERINGER, T., DE OLIVEIRA GARCIA, W., HARTMANN, J., KHANNA, T., LUDERER, G., NEMET, G. F., ROGELJ, J., SMITH, P., VICENTE, J. L. V., WILCOX, J., DEL MAR ZAMORA DOMINGUEZ, M. & MINX, J. C. 2018. Negative emissions—Part 2: Costs, potentials and side effects. Environmental Research Letters, 13, 063002. Available at: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/aabf9f</u>
- GESAMP. 2019. High level review of a wide range of proposed marine geoengineering techniques".
- (Boyd, P.W. and Vivian, C.M.G., eds.). (IMO/FAO/UNESCO-IOC/UNIDO/WMO/IAEA/UN/UN Environment/ UNDP/ISA Joint Group of Experts on the Scientific Aspects of Marine Environmental Protection). Rep. Stud. GESAMP No. 98, 144 p. Available at: <u>http://www.gesamp.org/site/assets/files/1723/</u> <u>rs98e.pdf</u>.
- GOEPPERT, A., CZAUN, M., SURYA P, G. K. & OLAH, G. 2012. Air as the renewable carbon source of the future: an overview of CO<sub>2</sub> capture from the atmosphere. Energy & Environmental Science, 5, 7833-7853. Available at: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1039/C2EE21586A</u>
- GONZÁLEZ MF, ILYINA T.2016. Impacts of artificial ocean alkalinization on the carbon cycle and climate in Earth system simulations. Geophysical Research Letters. 2016 Jun 21;43(12):6493–502. Available at: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/2016GL068576</u>
- GORKINA, T. I. 2013. Geopolitical problems of the Arctic Regional Research of Russia 3 4 447-457 10.1134/S2079970514010067 Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1134/S2079970514010067</u>



- GREENPEACE. 2013. Save the Actic Campaign [Online]. Available at: <u>https://www.peoplevsoil.org/en/</u><u>savethearctic/</u>
- GRISCOM, B. W., ADAMS, J., ELLIS, P. W., HOUGHTON, R. A., LOMAX, G., MITEVA, D. A., SCHLESINGER, W. H., SHOCH, D., SIIKAMÄKI, J. V., SMITH, P., WOODBURY, P., ZGANJAR, C., BLACKMAN, A., CAMPARI, J., CONANT, R. T., DELGADO, C., ELIAS, P., GOPALAKRISHNA, T., HAMSIK, M. R., HERRERO, M., KIESECKER, J., LANDIS, E., LAESTADIUS, L., LEAVITT, S. M., MINNEMEYER, S., POLASKY, S., POTAPOV, P., PUTZ, F. E., SANDERMAN, J., SILVIUS, M., WOLLENBERG, E. & FARGIONE, J. 2017 Natural climate solutions Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 114 44 11645-11650 10.1073/pnas.1710465114 Available at: https://www.pnas.org/content/pnas/114/44/11645.full.pdf
- HAMILTON, L. 2008. Who cares about polar regions? Results from a survey of U.S. public opinion. Arctic, Antartic and Alpine Research 40 4 671-678 Available at: <u>https://core.ac.uk/download/</u> <u>pdf/72049993.pdf</u>
- HAMMOND, J. SOHI, S. BROWNSORT, P. 2011. Prospective life cycle carbon abatement for pyrolysis biochar systems in the UK. Energy Policy, 39, 2646-2655. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2011.02.033</u> <u>http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0301421511001236</u>
- HANCKE, K., LUND-HANSON, C. L., LAMARE, L. M., PEDERSEN, H. S., KING, D. M., ANDERSEN, P., SORRELL, K. B. 2018 Extreme Low Light Requirement for Algae Growth Underneath Sea Ice: A Case Study From Station Nord, NE Greenland Journal of Geophysical Research: Oceans 123 2 985-1000 10.1002/2017jc013263 Available at: <u>https://agupubs.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/ abs/10.1002/2017jc013263</u>
- HARRISON, D. P. 2017. Global negative emissions capacity of ocean macronutrient fertilization. Environmental Research Letters, 12(035001) Available at: <u>https://iopscience.iop.org/article/10.1088/1748-9326/aa5ef5/meta</u>
- HORTON, J. B., REYNOLDS, J. L., BUCK, H. J., CALLIES, D., SCHÄFER, S., KEITH, D. W. & RAYNER, S. 2018. Solar Geoengineering and Democracy. Global Environmental Politics, 18, 5-24. Available at: <u>https://www.iasspotsdam.de/en/output/publications/2018/solar-geoengineering-and-democracy\_https://doi.org/10.1162/glep\_a\_00466</u>
- HOUGHTON, R. 2013. The emissions of carbon from deforestation and degradation in the tropics: Past trends and future potential. Carbon Management, 4, 539-546. Available at: <u>https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.4155/cmt.13.41</u>
- HUBERT, A. M., 2017. Code of Conduct for Responsible Geoengineering Research October 2017 Available at: <u>https://www.ce-conference.org/system/files/documents/revised\_code\_of\_conduct\_for\_geoengineering\_research\_2017.pdf</u>
- HUBERT, 2020. International legal and institutional arrangements relevant to the governance of climate engineering technologies in Florin, M et al, 2020. International governance issues on climate engineering - Information for policymakers. International Risk Governance Centre (IRGC). Lausanne, Switzerland: EPFL Scientific Publications Available at: <u>https://infoscience.epfl.ch/</u> <u>record/277726</u>
- ICE911 2019. ICE911 Annual Reort 2018-2019. In: FIELD, L. (ed.) Available at: <u>https://www.ice911.org/</u> <u>annual-report</u>.
- IMO, 2016. International Maritime Organisation The London Convention Convention on the Prevention of Marine Pollution by Dumping of Wastes and Other Matter 1972. Available at: <u>https://www.imo.org/en/OurWork/Environment/Pages/London-Convention-Protocol.aspx</u>.
- IPCC, 2014. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Climate Change 2014: Mitigation of Climate Change. Contribution of Working Group III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. . In: EDENHOFER, O., R. PICHS-MADRUGA, Y. SOKONA, E. FARAHANI, S. KADNER, K. SEYBOTH, A. ADLER, I. BAUM, S. BRUNNER, P. EICKEMEIER,

B. KRIEMANN, J. SAVOLAINEN, S. SCHLÖMER, C. VON STECHOW, T. ZWICKEL & J.C. MINX (ed.). Cambridge, United Kingdom. Available at: <u>https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/2018/02/ipcc\_wg3\_ar5\_frontmatter.pdf</u>

- IPCC 2018 Global warming of 1.5 °C: an IPCC special report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5 °C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change, sustainable development, and efforts to eradicate poverty. Geneva Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Available at: <a href="https://www.ipcc.ch/sr15/">https://www.ipcc.ch/sr15/</a>
- IPCC, 2019. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), 2019: IPCC Special Report on the Ocean and Cryosphere in a Changing Climate [H.-O. Pörtner, D.C. Roberts, V. Masson-Delmotte, P. Zhai, M. Tignor, E. Poloczanska, K. Mintenbeck, A. Alegría, M. Nicolai, A. Okem, J. Petzold, B. Rama, N.M. Weyer (eds.)]. Available at: <u>https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/sites/3/2019/12/SROCC\_FullReport\_FINAL.pdf</u>
- IRVINE, P., EMANUEL, K., JIE, H., HOROWITZ, L., VECCHI, G. & KEITH, D. 2019. Halving warming with idealized solar geoengineering moderates key climate hazards. Nature Climate Change. Available at: <u>https:// keith.seas.harvard.edu/publications/halving-warming-idealized-solar-geoengineering-moderateskey-climate-hazard</u>
- IRVINE, J. P., LUNT, J. D. STONE, J. E., RIDGWELL, RIDGWELL, A. 2009 The fate of the Greenland Ice Sheet in a geoengineered, high CO2world Environmental Research Letters 4 4 045109
   10.1088/1748-9326/4/4/045109 Available at: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/4/4/045109</u>
- JACKSON, S. L., CROOK, A. J., JARVIS, A., LEEDAL, D., RIDGWELL, A., VAUGHAN, N., FORSTER, M. P. 2015 Assessing the controllability of Arctic sea ice extent by sulfate aerosol geoengineering Geophysical Research Letters 42 4 1223-1231 10.1002/2014gl062240 Available at: <u>https://agupubs.onlinelibrary.</u> wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/2014GL062240
- JACOBSEN, M. & HOEVE, J. 2012 Effects of urban surface and white roof tops on global and regional climate Journal of Climate 25 1028-1044 doi/abs/10.1175/JCLI-D-11-00032.1 Available at: <u>http://journals.ametsoc.org/doi/abs/10.1175/JCLI-D-11-00032.1</u>
- JAY, D. 2019. Arctic Geoengineering experiment is dangerous, lacks community consent: Inupiaq organizer [Online]. Geoengineering Monitor. Available at: <u>http://www.geoengineeringmonitor.</u> <u>org/2019/02/arctic-geoengineering-experiment-is-dangerous-lacks-community-consent-inupiaq-organizer/</u>
- KAYRANLI, B., SCHOLZ, M., MUSTAFA, A., HEDMARK, A. 2010 Carbon Storage and Fluxes within Freshwater Wetlands: a Critical Review Wetlands 30 1 111-124 Available at: <u>https://link.springer.</u> <u>com/article/10.1007%2Fs13157-009-0003-4#citeas</u>
- KAYRANLI, B. S., M. MUSTAFA, A. HEDMARK, A. 2010. Carbon Storage and Fluxes within Freshwater Wetlands: a Critical Review. Wetlands, 30, 111-124. Available at: <u>http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/</u> <u>viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.469.9380&rep=rep1&type=pdf</u>.
- KEITH, D. W. 2013. A Case for Climate Engineering. Cambridge, USA, MIT Press. https://mitpress.mit. edu/books/case-climate-engineering Available at: <u>https://mitpress.mit.edu/books/case-climate-engineering</u>
- KEITH, D. W., WEISENSTEIN, D. K., DYKEMA, J. A. & KEUTSCH, F. N. 2016. Stratospheric solar geoengineering without ozone loss. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 113, 14910-14914. Available at: <u>https://www.pnas.org/content/113/52/14910</u>

https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1615572113

KEITH, W., SMITH, P. J., DYKEMA, A. J. 2018 Production of Sulfates Onboard an Aircraft: Implications for the Cost and Feasibility of Stratospheric Solar Geoengineering Earth and Space Science Available



at: <u>https://agupubs.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/epdf/10.1002/2018EA000370</u>

- KOIVUROVA, T., KESKITALO, H. C. E. , BANKES, NL. 2019. Climate Governance in the Arctic, Netherlands, Springer. Available at: <u>https://link.springer.com/</u> <u>chapter/10.1007/978-1-4020-9542-9\_1</u>
- KOPANSKY, D. 2020. Thawing Arctic peatlands risk unlocking huge amounts of carbon [Online]. Global Peatlands Initiative. Available at: <u>http://www.globalpeatlands.org/?p=16398</u>
- KOSGUI, T. 2011. Climate-economy modelling considering solar radiation management and its termination risk. 1st International Conference on Simulation and Modelling Methodologies, Technologies and Applications. Available at: <u>https://www.scitepress.org/Papers/2011/35800/pdf/index.html</u>
- KOYTSOUMPA, I. E., CHRISTIAN, B., KAKARAS, E. 2018 The CO2 economy: Review of CO2 capture and reuse technologies The Journal of Supercritical Fluids 132 3-16 Available at: https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.supflu.2017.07.029 <u>http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/</u> <u>S0896844617300694</u>
- KRAVITZ, B., ROBOCK, A., MARQUARDT, A. 2010. Climate Model Simulations of Stratospheric Geoengineering in the Arctic Spring In: DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCES, R. U., NEW BRUNSWICK, NEW JERSEY (ed.). New jersey: Available at: <u>http://climate.envsci.rutgers.edu/pdf/</u><u>ArcticSpring.pdf</u>.
- KRAVITZ, B., WANG, H., RASCH, P., MORRISON, H. & SOLOMON, A. 2014. Process-model simulations of cloud albedo enhancement by aerosols in the Arctic. Philosophical transactions. Series A, Mathematical, physical, and engineering sciences, 372, 20140052. Available at: <u>https://royalsocietypublishing.org/doi/10.1098/rsta.2014.0052</u>

https://doi.org/10.1098/rsta.2014.0052

- LC&P, 2015. Proceedings of the 2015 science day symposium on marine geoengineering. London: The London Convention/Protocol and Ocean Affairs, and the International Maritime Organisation. Available at: <u>https://wwwcdn.imo.org/localresources/en/OurWork/Environment/Documents/</u><u>Science%20day%20proceedings%20ebook%20FINAL.pdf</u>
- LATHAM, J., RASCH, P., CHEN, C. C., KETTLES, L., GADIAN, A., GETTELMAN, A., MORRISON, H., LAWRENCE, C. R. & NEFF, J. C. 2009. The contemporary physical and chemical flux of aeolian dust: A synthesis of direct measurements of dust deposition. Chemical Geology, 267, 46-63. https:// doi. org/10.1016/j.chemgeo.2009.02.005LEHMANN, J. J., S. 2015. Biochar for Environmental Management, London, Routledge. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203762264</u>.
- LI, X., R. BELLERBY, C. CRAFT AND S.E. WIDNEY, 2018 Coastal wetland loss, consequences, and challenges for restoration. Anthropocene Coasts, 1(0), 1–15. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1139/anc-2017-0001</u>
- LIN, A. C. 2012. Does Geoengineering Present a Moral Hazard? Ecology Law Quarterly 40, 673. Available at: <u>https://escholarship.org/content/qt7th0d0pd/qt7th0d0pd.pdf</u>
- LOCKLEY, A. 2012 Comment on "Review of Methane Mitigation Technologies with Application to Rapid Release of Methane from the Arctic" Environmental Science & Technology 46 24 13552-13553 10.1021/es303074j. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/es303074j</u>
- LOHMANN, U. G., BLAŽ 2017 A cirrus cloud climate dial? Science 357 248-249 Available at: <u>10.1126/</u> <u>science.aan3325</u>
- LUKACS, M. 2012. World's Biggest Geoengineering Experiment 'Violates' UN Rules. The Guardian, 15 October 2012. Available at: <u>http://www.theguardian.com/environment/2012/oct/15/pacific-iron-fertilisationgeoengineering</u>.



- LUNDQUIST, J. D., DICKERSON-LANGE, S. E., LUTZ, J. A. & CRISTEA, N. C. 2013. Lower forest density enhances snow retention in regions with warmer winters: A global framework developed from plot-scale observations and modeling. Water Resources Research, 49, 6356-6370. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1002/wrcr.20504
- MACKERRON, G. 2014. Costs and economics of geoengineering. Climate Geoengineering Governance Working Paper Series. Number 013. Oxford Martin School, University of Oxford, UK. Available at: <u>https://web. archive.org/web/20150823163901/</u> <u>http://www.geoengineering-governance-research.</u> <u>org/cggworking-papers.php</u>
- MACMARTIN, D. G., KRAVITZ, B., TILMES, S., RICHTER, J. H., MILLS, M. J., LAMARQUE, J.-F., TRIBBIA, J. J. & VITT, F. 2017. The Climate Response to Stratospheric Aerosol Geoengineering Can Be Tailored Using Multiple Injection Locations. Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres, 122, 12,574-12,590. Available at: <u>https://agupubs.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1002/2017JD026868</u>
- MACNAGHTEN, P. & OWEN, R. 2011 Environmental science: Good governance for geoengineering Nature 479 7373 293-293. Available at: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/479293a</u>
- MACE, M.J. 2021, Large-scale carbon dioxide removal to meet the 1.5°C goal: governance gaps, challenges and priority responses. Glob. Policy. Available at: <u>https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/</u><u>doi/10.1111/1758-5899.12921</u>
- MATTHEWS, H. D. & CALDEIRA, K. 2007. Transient climate-carbon simulations of planetary geoengineering. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 104, 9,949–54. <u>https://www.pnas.org/content/104/24/9949</u>
- MCLAREN, D. 2012 A comparative global assessment of potential negative emissions technologies Process Safety and Environmental Protection 90 6 489-500 Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psep.2012.10.005</u>
- MERCADO, L. M., BELLOUIN, N., SITCH, S., BOUCHER, O., HUNTINGFORD, C., WILD, M. & COX, P. M. 2009. Impact of changes in diffuse radiation on the global land carbon sink. Nature, 458, 1014-1017 Available at: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/19396143/</u>
- MEYER, S. B., RYAN M.: FISCHER, DANIEL: SCHULZ, HARDY: GLASER, BRUNO 2012 Albedo Impact on the Suitability of Biochar Systems To Mitigate Global Warming Environmental Science & Technology 46 22 12726-12734 10.1021/es302302g. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/es302302g</u>
- MINASNY, B., MALONE, P. B., MCBRATNEY, B. A., ANGERS, A. D., ARROUAYS, D., CHAMBERS, A., CHAPLOT, V., CHEN, Z-S., CHENG, K., DAS, S. B., FIELD, J. D., GIMONA, A., HEDLEY, B. C., HONG, Y. S., MANDAL, B., MARCHANT, P. B., MARTIN, M., MCCONKEY, G. B.,BRIAN G.: MULDER, L. V., O'ROURKE, S., RICHER-DE-FORGES, C. A., ODEH, I., PADARIAN, J.,PAUSTIAN, K., PAN, G., POGGIO, L., SAVIN, I.,STOLBOVOY, V., STOCKMANN, U., SULAEMAN, Y., TSUI, C. C., VÅGEN, T-G., WESEMAEL, V. B., WINOWIECKI, L. 2017 Soil carbon 4 per mille Geoderma 292 59-86. Available at: <u>https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2017.01.002</u> <u>http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0016706117300095</u>
- MOORE, C. M., MILLS, M. M., ARRIGO, K. R., BERMAN-FRANK, I., BOPP, L., BOYD, P. W., GALBRAITH, E. D., GEIDER, R. J., GUIEU, C., JACCARD, S. L., JICKELLS, T. D., LA ROCHE, J., LENTON, T. M., MAHOWALD, N. M., MARAÑÓN, E., MARINOV, I., MOORE, J. K., NAKATSUKA, T., OSCHLIES, A., SAITO, M. A., THINGSTAD, T. F., TSUDA, A. & ULLOA, O. 2013 Processes and patterns of oceanic nutrient limitation Nature Geoscience 6 701 10.1038/ngeo1765 <u>https://www.nature.com/articles/ ngeo1765#supplementary-information</u> Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ngeo1765</u>
- MOUGINOT, J. R., ERIC: BJØRK, ANDERS A.: VAN DEN BROEKE, MICHIEL: MILLAN, ROMAIN: MORLIGHEM, MATHIEU: NOËL, BRICE: SCHEUCHL, BERND: WOOD, MICHAEL 2019 Forty-six years of Greenland Ice Sheet mass balance from 1972 to 2018 Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 116 19 9239-9244 10.1073/pnas.1904242116 Available at: <u>https://www.pnas.org/content/</u>

#### pnas/116/19/9239.full.pdf

- NALAM, A., GOVINDASAMY, B. & MODAK, A. 2017. Arctic Geoengineering: Effects on precipitation in tropical monsoon regions. Available at: <u>https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s00382-017-3810-y</u>
- NASEM. 2021. National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. 2021. Reflecting Sunlight:Recommendations for Solar Geoengineering ResearchandResearchGovernance. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.17226/25762</u>.
- N'YEURT, A. D. R., CHYNOWETH, D. P., CAPRON, M. E., STEWART, J. R. & HASAN, M. A. 2012 Negative carbon via Ocean Afforestation. Process Safety and Environmental Protection, 90 467-474 Available at: <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/259892834\_Negative\_Carbon\_Via\_Ocean\_Afforestation</u>
- NOTZ, D. S., JULIENNE 2018 The Trajectory Towards a Seasonally Ice-Free Arctic Ocean Current Climate Change Reports 4 4 407-416 10.1007/s40641-018-0113-2 Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40641-018-0113-2</u>
- OSTENSO, N. 2019. Arctic Ocean Britannica. London: Encyclopædia Britannica, inc. Available at: <u>https://www.britannica.com/place/Arctic-Ocean/Sea-ice</u>.
- PARK, C.-E. J., JEONG, S-J., FAN, Y., TJIPUTRA, J., MURI, H., ZHENG, C. 2019 Inequal Responses of Drylands to Radiative Forcing Geoengineering Methods Geophysical Research Letters 46 23 14011-14020 10.1029/2019gl084210 Available at: <u>https://agupubs.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/ abs/10.1029/2019GL084210</u>
- PARKER, A. 2014. Governing solar geoengineering research as it leaves the laboratory. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences., 372. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/rsta.2014.0173</u>
- PARKER, A & IRVINE, P. 3/11/2018. The Risk of Termination Shock From Solar Geoengineering. Earth's Future, 6, Pp. 456-467. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/2017EF000735</u>
- PARKES, B. G., ALAN: LATHAM, JOHN 2012 The Effects of Marine Cloud Brightening on Seasonal Polar Temperatures and the Meridional Heat Flux ISRN Geophysics 2012 7 10.5402/2012/142872 Available at: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.5402/2012/142872</u>
- PIDGEON, N., CORNER, A., PARKHILL, K., SPENCE, A., BUTLER, C. & POORTINGA, W. 2012. Exploring early public responses to geoengineering. Philos Trans A Math Phys Eng Sci, 370, 4176-96. Available at: <u>https:// royalsocietypublishing.org/doi/full/10.1098/rsta.2012.0099</u>
- POMPEO, M. 2019. Secretary of State Michael R. Pompeo, Remarks at the Arctic Council Ministerial
- Meeting May 7, 2019, Lappi Arena, Rovaniemi, Finland. The US State Department. Available at: <u>https://oaarchive.arctic-council.org/bitstream/handle/11374/2409/2019\_Rovaniemi\_Ministerial\_Statement\_by\_the\_USA.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y</u>
- POPKIN, G. 2019. The forest question. Nature, 565, 280-282. Available at: <u>https://www.nature.com/</u> <u>articles/d41586-019-00122-z</u>
- RAYNER, S., HEYWARD, C., KRUGER, T., PIDGEON, N., REDGWELL, C., SAVULESCU, J. 2013. The Oxford Principles. . Climatic Change, 121, 499. Available at: <u>https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007%2Fs10584-012-0675-2</u>
- READ, D., MORISON, P., HANLEY, N., WEST, C., SNOWDON, P. 2009. Combating climate change a role for UK forests. An assessment of the potential of the UK's trees and woodlands to mitigate and adapt to climate change. The synthesis report. The Stationery Office, Edinburgh. Available at: <u>https://www.forestresearch.gov.uk/documents/2062/SynthesisUKAssessmentfinal.pdf</u>

- REDGWELL, K. 2011. Geoengineering the Climate: Technical Solutions for Mitigation Failure or Continuing Carbon Addiction? . Carbon and Climate Law Review 2, 178-189. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.21552/CCLR/2011/2/177</u>
- REYNOLDS, J. L. 2019. The Governance of Solar Geoengineering: Managing Climate Change in the Anthropocene, Cambridge, Cambridge University Press. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1162/glep\_r\_00542</u>
- RICKE, K. L. M.-C., JUAN B.: CALDEIRA, KEN. 2013. Strategic incentives for climate geoengineering coalitions to exclude broad participation Environmental Research Letters 8 1 014021
   10.1088/1748-9326/8/1/014021 Available at: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/8/1/014021">http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/8/1/014021</a>
- RIDGWELL, A., SINGARAYER, J. S., HETHERINGTON, A. & VALDES, P. 2009. Tackling regional climate change by leaf albedo biogeoengineering Current Biology 19 146-150 Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2008.12.025</u>
- ROBOCK, A. 2018. Stratospheric Sulfur Geoengineering—Benefits and Risks American Metrological Society 98th Annual Meeting Austin, Texas. Available at: <u>https://annual.ametsoc.org/2018/</u>
- ROBOCK, A. 2020. Benefits and Risks of Stratospheric Solar Radiation Management for Climate Intervention (Geoengineering) The Bridge - linking engineering and society. The National Academies of Sciences, Engineering and Medicine. Spring 2020 Engineering and climate change. Available at: <u>http://climate.envsci.rutgers.edu/pdf/RobockBridge.pdf</u>
- RS/RAE. 2018. Greenhouse Gas Removal. London: Royal Society and Royal Academy of Engineering royalsociety.org/greenhouse-gas-removal Available at: <u>https://royalsociety.org/topics-policy/projects/greenhouse-gas-removal/?gclid=EAIaIQobChMI2eLB8o2e8QIVi7rVCh3IPQvkEAAYASAAEgK fl\_D\_BwE</u>
- RUSSELL, L., RASCH, P., MACE, G., JACKSON, R., SHEPHERD, J., LISS, P., LEINEN, M., SCHIMEL, D., VAUGHAN, N., JANETOS, A., BOYD, P., NORBY, R., CALDEIRA, K., MERIKANTO, J., ARTAXO, P., MELILLO, J. & MORGAN, M. G. 2012. Ecosystem impacts of geoengineering: A Review for developing a science plan. AMBIO, 41, 350-369. Available at: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/</u> <u>PMC3393062/</u>
- SANZ-PÉREZ, E. S., MURDOCK, C. R., DIDAS, S. A. & JONES, C. W. 2016. Direct Capture of CO<sub>2</sub> from Ambient Air. Chemical Reviews, 116, 11840-11876. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.</u> <u>chemrev.6b00173</u>
- SCOTT, K. 2013. International Law in the Anthropocene: Responding to the Geoengineering Challenge Michigan Journal of International Law, 34. Available at: <u>https://repository.law.umich.edu/mjil/vol34/ iss2/2/</u>
- SEITZ, R. 2011. Bright water: hydrosols, water conservation and climate change Climatic Change 105 3 365-381 10.1007/s10584-010-9965-8 Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-010-9965-8</u>
- SILVERLINING. 2020. 'SilverLining Announces \$3 Million Safe Climate Research Initiative Supporting Research On Rapid Climate Interventions' Press release, 28 October, 2020. Available at: <u>https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5bbac81c7788975063632c65/t/5f9973d740e38c75e</u> <u>7c14988/1603892184077/Safe+Climate+Research+Initiative+Press+Release+Formatted.pdf</u>
- SIMPSON, R. I., TILMES, S., RICHTER, H. J., KRAVITZ, B., MACMARTIN, G.D., MILLS, J. M. : FASULLO, T. J., PENDERGRASS, G. A. 2019. The Regional Hydroclimate Response to Stratospheric Sulfate Geoengineering and the Role of Stratospheric Heating Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres 124 23 12587-12616 10.1029/2019jd031093 Available at: <u>https://agupubs.</u>



onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1029/2019JD031093

- SHAKHOVA, N., SEMILETOV, I., SALYUK, A., YUSUPOV, V., KOSMACH, D. & GUSTAFSSON, Ö. 2010. Extensive Methane Venting to the Atmosphere from Sediments of the East Siberian Arctic Shelf Science 327 5970 1246-1250 10.1126/science.1182221 Available at: <u>https://science.sciencemag.org/content/sci/327/5970/1246.full.pdf</u>
- SHEPHERD, J. 2009. Geoengineering the climate science, governance and uncertianty. RS Policy Document 10/09. London: The Royal Society. Available at: <u>https://royalsociety.org/~/media/Royal\_Society\_Content/policy/publications/2009/8693.pdf.</u>
- SILVER, M. W., BARGU, S., COALE, S. L., BENITEZ-NELSON, C. R., GARCIA, A. C., ROBERTS, K. J., ... COALE, K. H. 2010. Toxic diatoms and domoic acid in natural and iron enriched waters of the oceanic Pacific. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 107(48), 20762–20767. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1006968107</u>
- SMITH, P. 2016. Soil carbon sequestration and biochar as negative emission technologies Global Change Biology 22 3 1315-1324 10.1111/gcb.13178 Available at: <u>https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/</u> <u>doi/abs/10.1111/gcb.13178</u>
- SMITH, P., DAVIS, S. J., CREUTZIG, F., FUSS, S., MINX, J., GABRIELLE, B., KATO, E., JACKSON, R. B., COWIE, A., KRIEGLER, E., VAN VUUREN, D. P., ROGELJ, J., CIAIS, P., MILNE, J., CANADELL, J. G., MCCOLLUM, D., PETERS, G., ANDREW, R., KREY, V., SHRESTHA, G., FRIEDLINGSTEIN, P., GASSER, T., GRÜBLER, A., HEIDUG, W. K., JONAS, M., JONES, C. D., KRAXNER, F., LITTLETON, E., LOWE, J., MOREIRA, J. R., NAKICENOVIC, N., OBERSTEINER, M., PATWARDHAN, A., ROGNER, M., RUBIN, E., SHARIFI, A., TORVANGER, A., YAMAGATA, Y., EDMONDS, J. & YONGSUNG, C. 2015. Biophysical and economic limits to negative CO2 emissions Nature Climate Change 6 42 10.1038/nclimate2870: <a href="https://www.nature.com/articles/nclimate2870#supplementary-information">https://www.nature.com/articles/nclimate2870#supplementary-information</a> Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate2870">https://www.nature.2870</a>
- SMITH, P. 2012. Soils and climate change Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability 4 5 539-544 Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cosust.2012.06.005</u> <u>http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1877343512000711</u>
- SMITH, W. and WAGNER, G .2018. Stratospheric aerosol injection tactics and costs in the first 15 years of deployment Environmental Research Letters 13 12 124001 10.1088/1748-9326/aae98d Available at: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/aae98d</u>
- SNH. 2019. Peatland Action Scottish Natural Heritage [Online]. Available at: <u>https://www.nature.scot/</u> <u>climate-change/taking-action/peatland-action</u>
- SONDAK, C., ANG, P., BEARDALL, J., BELLGROVE, A., BOO, S., GERUNG, G., HEPBURN, C., HONG, D. D., HU, Z., KAWAI, H., LARGO, D., LEE, J., LIM, P-E., MAYAKIN, J., NELSON, W., OAK, J. PHANG, S., SAHOO, D., PEERAPORNPIS, Y., YANG, Y., CHUNG, I. 2017. Carbon dioxide mitigation potential of seaweed aquaculture beds (SABs). Journal of Applied Phycology, 29, 2363-2373. Available at: <u>https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10811-016-1022-1</u>
- SRMGI. 2011. Solar radiation management: the governance of research. Environmental Defence Fund, The Royal Society and TWAS. Available at: <u>https://royalsociety.org/~/media/royal\_society\_content/</u> <u>policy/projects/solar-radiation-governance/des2391\_srmgi%20report\_web.pdf</u>
- STAVINS, R. STOWE., R 2019. Governance of the Deployment of Solar Geoengineering. Harvard Project on Climate Agreements. Cambridge, Mass: University of Harvard Available at: <u>https://geoengineering.environment.harvard.edu/files/sgrp/files/harvard\_project\_sg\_governance\_briefs\_volume\_feb\_2019.pdf</u>
- STILGOE, J. 2015. Experiment Earth. Responsible innovation in geoengineering, Abingdon, Oxford, Earthscan Available at: <u>https://www.routledge.com/Experiment-Earth-Responsible-innovation-in-geoengineering/Stilgoe/p/book/9781138691940</u>

- STIRLING, A. 2008. Opening up and closing down: power, and pluralism in the social appraisal of technology Science, technology and human values, 33, 262-294. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0162243907311265</u>
- STOLAROFF, J. B., S: SMITH, C: BOURCIER, W : CAMERON-SMITH, P: AINES, ROGER D. 2012 Review of Methane Mitigation Technologies with Application to Rapid Release of Methane from the Arctic Environmental Science & Technology 46 12 6455-6469 10.1021/es204686w Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/es204686w</u>
- SUGIYAMA, M., ASAYAMA, S. & KOSUGI, T. 2020. The North–South Divide on Public Perceptions of Stratospheric Aerosol Geoengineering?: A Survey in Six Asia-Pacific Countries. Environmental Communication, 1-16. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17524032.2019.1699137</u>
- TALBERG, A., CHRISTOFF, P., THOMAS, S., 2018 Geoengineering governance-by-default: an earth system governance perspective. Int Environ Agreements 18, 229–253 (2018). Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10784-017-9374-9</u>
- TAYLOR, B. V., K: MACLEAN, K: NEWLANDS, M: RITCHIE, B: LOCKIE, S: LACEY, J: BARESI, U: BARBER, M: SIEHOYONO, S: MARTIN, M: MARSHALL, N : KOOPMAN, D 2019. Reef Restoration and Adaptation Programme Stakeholder, Traditional Owner and Community Engagement Assessment. In: PROGRAM, A. R. P. T. T. A. G. B. T. R. A. A. (ed.). https://gbrrestoration.org/resources/reports/
- TILMES, S. J., ALEXANDRA: KAY, JENNIFER E.: HOLLAND, MARIKA: LAMARQUE, JEAN-FRANCOIS 2014 Can regional climate engineering save the summer Arctic sea ice? Geophysical Research Letters 41 3 880-885 10.1002/2013gl058731 Available at: <u>https://agupubs.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/ abs/10.1002/2013GL058731</u>
- TILMES, S. & MILLS, M. 2014. Stratospheric sulfate aerosols and planetary albedo. In: FREEDMAN, B. (ed.) Global Environmental Change. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands. Available at: <u>https://www.springer.com/gp/book/9789400757837</u>
- TRICK, C. G., BILL, B. D., COCHLAN, W. P., WELLS, M. L., TRAINER, V. L., & PICKELL, L. D., 2010. Iron enrichment stimulates toxic diatom production in high-nitrate , low-chlorophyll areas. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 107(13), 5887–5892. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0910579107</u>
- UKRI. 2019. Strategic Priority Fund (SPF) Wave 2 Greenhouse Gas Removal Programme. [Online]. UK Research and Innovation. Available at: <u>https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.</u> <u>uk/20200930164234/https://bbsrc.ukri.org/funding/filter/2019-greenhouse-gas-removaldemonstrators/</u>
- UN. 1977. Convention on the Prohibition of Military or Any Other Hostile Use of Environmental Modification Techniques. Geneva: UN Available at: <u>http://www.un-documents.net/enmod.htm</u>
- UN. 1992. United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) FCCC/INFORMAL/84 GE.05-62220 (E) 200705. Available at: <u>https://unfccc.int/resource/docs/convkp/conveng.pdf</u>
- UN. 2009. UN Convention on the Law of the Sea (UNCLOS) Available at: <u>https://www.un.org/depts/los/</u> <u>convention\_agreements/texts/unclos/unclos\_e.pdf</u>
- UN. 2020. Intergovernmental Conference on Marine Biodiversity of Areas Beyond National Jurisdiction under the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea (General Assembly resolution 72/249) Available at: <u>https://www.un.org/bbnj/</u>
- UNEP. 1985. The Vienna Convention for the Protection of The Ozone Layer. In: SECRETARIAT, T. O. (ed.). Vienna: UNEP Available at: <u>https://ozone.unep.org/treaties/vienna-convention</u>
- UNEP. 1987. The Montreal Protocol on Substances that Deplete the Ozone Layer. In: SECRETARIAT, T. O. (ed.). Montreal, Canada. Available at: <u>https://ozone.unep.org/treaties/montreal-protocol</u>



- UNEP. 2019. The UN Environment Programme Emissions Gap Report 2019. Available at: <u>https://www.unenvironment.org/resources/emissions-gap-report-2019</u>
- UNEP. 2020. The UN Environment Programme Emissions Gap Report 2020. Available at: <u>https://wedocs.unep.org/bitstream/handle/20.500.11822/34438/EGR20ESE.pdf?sequence=8</u>
- UNFAO. 2009. How to feed the world in 2050. UN FAO expert papers. UN Food and Agricultural Organisation Available at: <u>http://www.fao.org/fileadmin/templates/wsfs/docs/expert\_paper/How\_to\_Feed\_the\_World\_in\_2050.pdf</u>
- UNFCCC. 2015. United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change. The Adoption of the Paris Agreement. Available at: <u>https://unfccc.int/resource/docs/2015/cop21/eng/l09r01.pdf</u>.
- USNAS. 1992. Policy Implications of Greenhouse Warming: Mitigation, Adaptation, and the Science Base. Panel on Policy Implications of Greenhouse Warming, In: SCIENCES, U. S. N. A. O. (ed.). National Academy Press: Washington DC, USA. Available at: <u>https://www.nap.edu/catalog/1605/</u> <u>policy-implications-of-greenhouse-warming-mitigation-adaptation-and-the-science</u>
- VIEBAHN, P. S., ALEXANDER: ZELT, OLE. 2019. The Potential Role of Direct Air Capture in the German Energy Research Program—Results of a Multi-Dimensional Analysis Energies 12 3443 10.3390/ en12183443 Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/en12183443</u>
- WANG, T., LACKNER, S. K., WRIGHT, B. A. 2013. Moisture-swing sorption for carbon dioxide capture from ambient air: a thermodynamic analysis Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics 15 2 504-514 10.1039/C2CP43124F Available at: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1039/C2CP43124F</u>
- WATTS, R. 1997. Engineering Response to Global Climate Change: Planning a Research and Development Agenda, New York, US, CCR Press <u>https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/</u> <u>Engineering-Response-to-Global-Climate-Change%3A-a-Watts/084b7aed4da64c01a00371a63a66fa</u> <u>8879d76d76</u>
- WHITEMAN, G., HOPE, C. & WADHAMS, P. 2013. Vast costs of Arctic change Nature 499 401 10.1038/499401a https://www.nature.com/articles/499401a#supplementary-information Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/499401a</u>
- WHITING, G. J. C., JEFFREY P. 2001. Greenhouse carbon balance of wetlands: methane emission versus carbon sequestration Tellus B 53 5 521-528 10.1034/j.1600-0889.2001.530501.x Available at: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1034/j.1600-0889.2001.530501.x
- WILLAUER, D. H., HARDY, R. DisMascio, F. 2017. Extraction of Carbon Dioxide and Hydrogen from Seawater by an Electrolytic Cation Exchange Module (E-CEM) Part V: E-CEM Effluent Discharge Composition as a Function of Electrode Water Composition. Washington, DC Naval Research Laboratory - United States Navy. Available at: <u>https://apps.dtic.mil/sti/pdfs/AD1038769.pdf</u>
- WILLIAMSON, P., 2016. Emissions reduction: Scrutinize CO<sub>2</sub> removal methods. Nature, 530, 153-155. Available at: <u>https://www.nature.com/news/emissions-reduction-scrutinize-co2-removal-methods-1.19318</u>
- WINCKLER, J. L., QUENTIN, L. REICK, C., PONGRATZ, J. 2019. Nonlocal Effects Dominate the Global Mean Surface Temperature Response to the Biogeophysical Effects of Deforestation Geophysical Research Letters 46 2 745-755 10.1029/2018gl080211 Available at: <u>https://agupubs.onlinelibrary.</u> wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1029/2018GL080211
- WOOD, R. 2018. Marine Cloud Brightening: Science, Feasibility and a Plan for Research. Presentation by Robert Wood Department of Atmospheric Sciences, University of Washington, Seattle at Caltech. Available at: <u>https://faculty.washington.edu/robwood2/wordpress/?page\_id=954</u>
- WOOLF, D. A., J E., STREET-PERROTT, F. A, LEHMANN, J, JOSEPH, S. 2010. Sustainable biochar to mitigate global climate change Nature Communications 1 56 10.1038/ncomms1053: Available



at: <u>https://www.nature.com/articles/ncomms1053#supplementary-information https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms1053</u>

- YUMASHEV, D., HOPE, C., SCHAEFER, K., RIEMANN-CAMPE, K., IGLESIAS-SUAREZ, F., JAFAROV, E., BURKE, E. J., YOUNG, P. J., ELSHORBANY, Y. & WHITEMAN, G. 2019. Climate policy implications of nonlinear decline of Arctic land permafrost and other cryosphere elements Nature Communications 10 1 1900 10.1038/s41467-019-09863-x Available at:<u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41467-019-09863-x</u>
- ZAKKOUR, P., KEMPER, J. DIXON, T. 2014. Incentivising and Accounting for Negative Emission Technologies Energy Procedia 63 6824-6833 Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.</u> <u>egypro.2014.11.716 http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1876610214025314</u>
- ZEDLER, J. B. and KERCHER, S. 2005. Wetland Resources: Status, Trends, Ecosystem Services, and Restorability. Annu. Rev. Environ. Resour, Vol. 30:39-74. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/ annurev.energy.30.050504.144248</u>
- ZHANG, Z., MOORE, J. C., HISSING, D. & ZHAO, Y. 2015. Review of geoengineering approaches to mitigating climate change Journal of Cleaner Production 103 898-907 Available at: <u>https://www.stevenphipps.com/publications/zhang2015a.pdf</u>
- ZHOU, S. & FLYNN, P., 2005. Geoengineering downwelling ocean currents: a cost assessment. Climate Change, 71, 203-220. Available at: <u>https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10584-005-5933-0</u>



Summarised information about the techniques and their governance is available in the **C2G Policy Brief: Climate-altering approaches and the Arctic** 

This briefing is based on the latest literature and has been subject to independent expert review. Please notify <u>contact@c2g2.net</u> of any important suggested corrections. This publication may be reproduced with acknowledgement of C2G. Suggested citation: *'C2G (2021). C2G Evidence Brief: Climate-altering approaches and the Arctic Carnegie Climate Governance Initiative (C2G). New York. 2021' Version 20210802.*